# MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE ACADEMIC AND STUDENT AFFAIRS COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE UNIVERSITY OF LOUISVILLE

# March 18, 2021

# In Open Session

Members of the Academic and Student Affairs Committee of the University of Louisville Board of Trustees met at the Student Activities Center Ballroom, Belknap Campus, both in-person and virtually at 1:33 p.m. on March 18, 2021, with members present and absent as follows:

Present: Dr. Raymond Burse, Chair

Ms. Sabrina Collins Ms. Mary Nixon Ms. Diane Porter Prof. David Schultz

#### Other Trustees

Present: Mr. Scott Brinkman

Mr. Randy Bufford Mr. John Chilton Mr. Al Cornish Ms. Diane Medley Mr. James Rogers Mr. John Smith

# From the

University: Dr. Neeli Bendapudi, President

Dr. Beth Boehm, Executive Vice President and University Provost

Mr. Dan Durbin, Vice President for Finance and CFO

Mr. Thomas Hoy, General Counsel

Dr. Jasmine Farrier, Vice President for University Advancement Mr. Ralph Fitzpatrick, Vice President for Community Engagement Mr. Vince Tyra, Vice President for Athletics and Athletic Director Dr. Toni Ganzel, Vice President for Academic Medical Affairs

Mr. Mark Watkins, Sr. Associate Vice President for Operations

Ms. Mary Elizabeth Miles, CHRO & Assoc. Vice President for Human Resources

Ms. Sandy Russell, Assistant Vice President for Enterprise Risk and Compliance

Mr. John Drees, Sr. Associate Vice President for Communications & Marketing

Ms. Shannon Rickett, Assistant Vice President for Government Relations

Mr. Walter Newell, Treasurer/Controller

Dr. Michael Mardis, Dean of Students & Vice Provost for Student Affairs

Mr. Rehan Khan, Vice Provost and Chief Information Officer

Ms. Beverly Santamouris, Asst. Controller, Dir. of Inst. Accounting & Reporting

Mr. Michael Marquette, Director of Financial Analysis

Dr. Michael Wade Smith, Chief of Staff and External Affairs

Dr. Kevyn Merten, Chief of Staff for the EVP for Research and Innovation

Dr. David Jenkins, Dean, Kent School of Social Work

Dr. Emmanuel Collins, Dean, Speed School of Engineering

Dr. Charlie Leonard, Int. Dir., National & International Scholarship Opportunities

Dr. Lori Gonzalez, Vice Chanc., Academic, Faculty & Student Affairs, UTHSC

Ms. Jessica Murnock, Executive Officer to the President

Prof. Richard J. Lamont, Chair, Oral Immunology, and Infectious Diseases

Prof. Richard Germain, Challenge for Excellence Chair, Supply Chain Mgmt.

Prof. Sean Beirne, Director of Equine Industry Program

Prof. Haribabu Bodduluri, Dept. of Microbiology & Immunology

Prof. Jeff Guan, Assoc. Dean for Programs, College of Business

Prof. Lynn Boyd, Senior Associate Dean in Management

Prof. Bibhuti Sar, Director of Doctoral Program, Kent School of Social Work

Prof. Wei Zhang, Chair of Dept. of Computer Engineering & Computer Science

Mr. Todd Kneale, Director of Total Rewards, Human Resources

Mr. Michael Marquette, Director of Financial Analysis

Ms. Bethany Smith, Fellowships Coordinator, Honors Program

Ms. Madeline McCloud, Student

Ms. Natasha Mundkur, Student

Mr. Jake Beamer, Boards Liaison and Assistant Secretary

From UofL

Health: Mr. Ken Marshall, COO

# I. Call to Order

Chair Burse called the roll and having determined a quorum present, called the meeting to order at 1:33 p.m.

# Approval of Minutes, 12-10-2020

Ms. Nixon made a motion, which Ms. Porter seconded, to approve the minutes of the December 10, 2020 meeting.

The motion passed.

# II. Action Items: Approval of New Academic Programs

Provost Boehm briefed the committee on the four new academic programs: a Certificate of Horseracing Industry Business; a Bachelor of Arts in Computer Science; a Doctorate of Social Work; and the creation of a Center for Microbiomics, Inflammation, and Pathogenicity.

Dr. Boehm and representatives from the College of Business, Speed School of Engineering, Kent School of Social Work, and School of Medicine fielded questions from committee members.

Chair Burse thanked the provost and administrative leadership for their continuing efforts to address the needs of community and fill out curricula.

# Certificate in Horseracing Industry Business

Ms. Nixon made a motion, which Ms. Collins seconded, to approve the

President's recommendation that the Board of Trustees approve the creation of the Certificate in Horseracing Industry Business, effective fall 2021.

The motion passed.

# Bachelor of Arts in Computer Science

Ms. Nixon made a motion, which Ms. Porter seconded, to approve the

President's recommendation that the Board of Trustees approve the creation of the Bachelor of Arts in Computer Science, effective fall 2021.

The motion passed.

# Doctorate of Social Work

Ms. Porter made a motion, which Ms. Nixon seconded, to approve the

President's recommendation that the Board of Trustees approve the creation of the Doctorate of Social Work, effective fall 2021.

The motion passed.

# Center for Microbiomics, Inflammation, and Pathogenicity

Ms. Nixon made a motion, which Prof. Schultz seconded, to approve the

President's recommendation that the Board of Trustees approve the creation of the Center for Microbiomics, Inflammation, and Pathogenicity

The motion passed.

# III. Action Items: Approval of Personnel Document Revisions

Provost Boehm briefed the committee on revisions to the personnel documents for University Libraries and the College of Arts and Sciences. She and her colleagues from the academic units then fielded questions from the committee.

# University Libraries

Prof. Schultz made a motion, which Ms. Nixon seconded, to approve the

President's recommendation that the Board of Trustees approve the revised University Libraries Faculty Personnel Document, as attached.

The motion passed.

# College of Arts and Sciences

Ms. Nixon made a motion, which Ms. Porter seconded, to approve the

President's recommendation that the Board of Trustees approve the revised Arts and Sciences Personnel Policy and Procedures Document, as attached.

The motion passed.

# IV. <u>Information Item: UofL Fulbright Successes</u>

Provost Boehm introduced Dr. Leonard who stated that the University of Louisville has produced more Fulbright Scholars than all other Kentucky institutions combined. He was thrilled to highlight the student successes including winners of Fulbright, Truman, Boren, Rhodes, Marshall, McConnell, and Mitchell Scholarships.

Dr. Leonard introduced his colleague, Ms. Smith, who explained the application processes and the ways in which the Office of National and International Scholarships advise and counsel students interested in competing for awards.

Dr. Leonard also introduced scholarship winners McCloud and Mundkur who discussed their experiences with committee members.

They then fielded questions from trustees. Chair Burse thanked Dr. Leonard, Ms. Smith, Ms. McCloud, and Ms. Mundkur for joining today's meeting.

No actions were taken.

# V. <u>Executive Session</u>

Ms. Nixon made a motion, which Ms. Porter seconded, to recess to executive session to discuss personnel matters pursuant to KRS 61.810(1)(f).

The motion passed and the meeting recessed at 2:05 p.m.

# VI. Open Meeting Reconvenes

The open meeting reconvened at 2:11 p.m. Chair Burse reported that the committee discussed personnel matters. The committee then took the following action:

Ms. Collins made a motion, which Ms. Nixon seconded, to approve the

President's recommendation that the Board of Trustees approve the following personnel recommendations:

# **Engineering:**

Pratik Parikh, PhD, Professor (Tenured) and Department Chair of Industrial Engineering; additional appointment as Mary Lee and George Duthie Chair, May 1, 2021 through April 30, 2024.

Education: PhD, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University

# **Notable Accomplishments:**

Dr. Parikh has extensive funded research experience in the field of hospital trauma systems and evaluation of alternative configurations as well as trauma care network design. Funding source is the National Science Foundation.

## **Selection Process:**

Additional appointment with no additional pay was initiated and approved by the Dean.

Salary Data:

Current base salary: \$165,000

Supplement: \$ 17,556 Total compensation: \$182,556

Proposed salary: \$165,000

Proposed supplement: \$ 17,556

Proposed total: \$182,556

**Budget impact:** none

Median benchmark comparison: \$177,147 Benchmark position title: Professor Benchmark source: ASEE Salary Survey, American Society for Engineering

Education

Year of benchmark data: 2020

Benchmark data number of incumbents: 275
Benchmark data number of institutions: 46

# **Medicine:**

Rosemary Ouseph, MD, Professor (Term) of Medicine and Division Chief of Nephrology and Hypertension; appointment as Professor (Tenured) of Medicine, April 23, 2021.

**Education: MD, University of Louisville** 

# **Notable Accomplishments:**

After obtaining her medical degree in 1988, Dr. Ouseph completed a Residency in Internal Medicine in 1991, a Clinical Fellowship in Nephrology in 1992, and a Research Fellowship in Nephrology in 1994. Dr. Ouseph received a Master of Science in Public Health from the University of Louisville in 2003. Dr. Ouseph joined the faculty at the University of Louisville as an Assistant Professor of Medicine, Division of Nephrology in 1994. She was promoted to Associate Professor in 2000 and awarded tenure in 2001, after which she was promoted to Professor in 2008. Dr. Ouseph served as the Director of the Metabolic Bone Center from 1998-2001, and Director of the Clinical Transplantation, Kidney Disease Program and Director of the Outpatient Nephrology Office from 2009 to her departure from the University in 2015. Since her departure from Louisville, she has worked as a Tenured Professor of Medicine and Medical Director of the Kidney and Pancreas Program at Saint Louis University.

# **Selection Process:**

Selected by Division Chief and Department Chair.

Salary Data:

Incumbent base salary: \$ 45,057.00 Incumbent supplement: \$ 45,685.00 Incumbent supplement: \$ 80,000.00

Incumbent supplement: \$ 13,848.33 (ULP Annual Salary)

**Incumbent total:** \$184,590.33

Proposed base salary: \$ 66,500.00

Proposed supplement: \$ 33,500.00

Proposed supplement: \$275,000.00 (ULP Annual Salary)

**Proposed total:** \$375,000.00

Budget impact: Since this position has been vacant, and not part of the budget, this will be an increase to the

budget. A salary higher than the median benchmark was agreed upon to recruit higher quality faculty.

Median benchmark comparison\*: \$351,000.00

Benchmark position title: Professor, Nephrology-Med. (Chief)

Benchmark source: AAMC

Year of benchmark data: 2018-2019

Benchmark data number of incumbents: 39 Benchmark data number of institutions: N/A

# **Medicine:**

Teresa Pitts, PhD, Associate Professor (Tenured) of Neurological Surgery; additional appointment as Endowed Chair 1 in Neurological Surgery, April 23, 2021 through April 22, 2024.

**Education: PhD, University of Florida** 

# **Notable Accomplishments:**

Dr. Pitts began working at UofL in January 2015, and in January 2021, was promoted to Associate Professor and awarded tenure in the Department of Neurological Surgery. In the last 5 years she has published 24 original research publications, 12 as first or last author. Dr. Pitts currently holds an R01 grant as a Principal Investigator (PI). As a leader she holds the roles of Director of Research and the CMDS 600 Research Methods course developer and Director. This past year she was awarded the prestigious Giles F. Filley Memorial Award for Excellence in Respiratory Physiology and Medicine.

#### **Selection Process:**

The agreement that Dr. Scott Whittemore had with then Dean Edward Halperin when Dr. Pitts was recruited was that the endowed chair funds would initially be used to support Dr. Pitts' laboratory and if she was awarded promotion and tenure and had an exemplary academic record, she would be nominated to the named chair.

Salary Data:

Current base salary: \$122,308

Total compensation: \$122,308 (from multiple grants and endowments)

Proposed base salary: \$89,695 Proposed supplement: \$44,485

Proposed total: \$134,180 (from multiple grants and endowments)

Budget impact: \$11,872

Median benchmark comparison: \$127,000

Benchmark position title: Associate Professor Benchmark source: AAMC Table 25

Year of benchmark data: 2018-19 Benchmark data number of incumbents: 55 Benchmark data number of institutions: 151

# Administration

Daniel Durbin, MPA, West Virginia University, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer; change of appointment to Executive Vice President for Finance and Administration, April 1, 2021. Appointment as Executive Vice President for Finance and Administration is at the pleasure of the Board of Trustees.

Education: MPA (2010) West Virginia University

**Prior Employment:** 

2018 – Present: Vice President & Chief Financial Officer, University of

Louisville

2017 – 2018: Associate Vice President of Health Affairs, University of

Louisville

2016 - 2017: Senior Associate Vice President for Administration and Finance, West

Virginia University

2008-2016: Senior Associate Vice President for Finance, WVU

2005-2008: Associate Vice President for Finance, WVU

1992-2005: Director of Budget and Financial Operations, Health Sciences

Center, WVU

1986-1991: Financial Management Analyst, Health Sciences Center, WVU

Salary Data:

Current salary: \$425,000 Proposed salary: \$425,000

Budget impact: \$0

The motion passed.

# VII. Adjournment

Having no other business to come before the committee, Ms. Nixon made a motion, which Ms. Porter seconded, to adjourn.

The motion passed and the meeting adjourned at 2:12 p.m.

Approved by:
Signature on file
Assistant Secretary

# MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE ACADEMIC AND STUDENT AFFAIRS COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE UNIVERSITY OF LOUISVILLE

# March 18, 2021

## In Executive Session

Present: Dr. Raymond Burse, Chair

Ms. Sabrina Collins Ms. Mary Nixon Ms. Diane Porter Prof. David Schultz

## Other Trustees

Present: Mr. Scott Brinkman

Mr. Randy Bufford Mr. John Chilton Mr. Al Cornish Ms. Diane Medley Mr. James Rogers Mr. John Smith

From the

University: Dr. Neeli Bendapudi, President

Dr. Beth Boehm, Executive Vice President and University Provost

Mr. Thomas Hoy, General Counsel

Dr. Michael Wade Smith, Chief of Staff and External Affairs Mr. Jake Beamer, Boards Liaison and Assistant Secretary

# I. <u>Call to Order</u>

Chair Burse called the executive session to order at 2:05 p.m.

# II. <u>Personnel Matters</u>

President Bendapudi and Provost Boehm discussed personnel matters.

# III. Adjournment

Ms. Porter made a motion, which Miss Nixon seconded, to adjourn the executive session at 2:09 p.m. The motion passed and the session adjourned.

Approved by:

Signature on file

Assistant Secretary

# RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES CONCERNING THE CREATION OF THE CERTIFICATE IN HORSERACING INDUSTRY BUSINESS

Academic and Student Affairs Committee – March 18, 2021 Board of Trustees – April 22, 2021

# **RECOMMENDATION:**

The President recommends that the Board of Trustees approve the creation of the Certificate in Horseracing Industry Business effective fall 2021.

## BACKGROUND:

The Dean of the College of Business (COB) recommends the creation of the Certificate in Horseracing Industry Business.

The Horseracing Industry Business Certificate program has been designed to align with the needs of the horseracing industry. The certificate program will be taught online by a combination of College of Business and affiliated faculty and industry experts (called Corporate Fellows). The certificate will require students to complete nine credit hours of graduate course work.

The horseracing industry has a robust presence in the city of Louisville and the surrounding area and in the Commonwealth of Kentucky, with racing companies such as Churchill Downs, Keeneland, Kentucky Downs, Ellis Park, and Turfway Park, as well as other important stakeholders including auction companies, horse farms, training centers, industry-related associations, and stallion stations. By aligning our certificate program with the needs of major horseracing organizations, it will enable us to develop a mutually beneficial talent pipeline that serves our business community and our students. Horseracing companies in the Commonwealth of Kentucky (and beyond) will get well-prepared graduates who have a solid understanding of the horseracing industry and are ready to be successful in careers in business operations. In turn, our graduates gain broad-based knowledge about business operations within the horseracing industry, which makes them highly competitive for jobs and will ultimately accelerate their career success.

The Faculty Senate recommended the creation of the Certificate in Horseracing Industry Business at their meeting on February 3, 2021. The certificate is considered a short-term credential and approval of the proposal by the Kentucky Council on Postsecondary Education is not required. The Executive Vice President/University Provost joins the President in making this recommendation.

COMMITTEE ACTION:	BOARD ACTION:
Passed <u>X</u>	Passed X
Did Not Pass	Did Not Pass
Other	Other
$Q_{\alpha}$	$O_{\alpha}$
Signature on file	Signature on file
Assistant Secretary	Assistant Secretary

# RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES CONCERNING THE CREATION OF THE BACHELOR OF ARTS IN COMPUTER SCIENCE

Academic and Student Affairs Committee – March 18, 2021 Board of Trustees – April 22, 2021

# RECOMMENDATION:

The President recommends that the Board of Trustees approve the creation of the Bachelor of Arts in Computer Science effective fall 2021.

# BACKGROUND:

The Dean of the J.B. Speed School of Engineering recommends the creation of the Bachelor of Arts in Computer Science degree program.

The Bachelor of Arts in Computer Science is a 120-credit-hour degree program developed in response to the existing need for technical jobs throughout the local industry in Louisville and Kentucky. The structure of the program offers students a chance not only to become wellequipped computer scientists but to also excel in other areas of studies that will match the students' interests. It will fulfill the demand in careers that rely on computer science and a broad knowledge in application areas. The program is designed to be eight semesters long with two internships in between. The credit hours of the program cover the required thirty-one hours in general education requirements, a minimum of fifty-six hours in the field of computer science, and the additional minimum of thirty-six hours in other areas of study. Allowing students to choose other areas of study that are not necessarily tied to the sciences or engineering will make this degree attractive to students with leanings towards the liberal arts who also have the desire to work in a technically savvy industry. This degree should attract students directly from high school, as well as existing graduates with skills in other disciplines who are seeking to re-tool their knowledge and seek a future in a technical career. The program is also designed to leverage the expertise and infrastructure in existence in the Department of Computer Science and Engineering (CSE). This program will not be ABET accredited.

The Faculty Senate recommended the creation of the Bachelor of Arts in Computer Science at their meeting on February 3, 2021. The Executive Vice President/University Provost joins the President in making this recommendation.

COMMITTEE ACTION:	BOARD ACTION:
Passed X	Passed X
Did Not Pass	Did Not Pass
Other	Other
<i>V</i> 2	(2)
Signature on file	Signature on file
Assistant Secretary	Assistant Secretary

# RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES CONCERNING THE CREATION OF THE DOCTORATE OF SOCIAL WORK

Academic and Student Affairs Committee – March 18, 2021 Board of Trustees – April 22, 2021

# **RECOMMENDATION:**

The President recommends that the Board of Trustees approve the creation of the Doctorate of Social Work effective Fall 2021.

## BACKGROUND:

The Dean of the Kent School of Social Work recommends the creation of the Doctorate of Social Work degree program.

The purpose of the Doctorate in Social Work (DSW) program within the Kent School of Social Work is to offer advanced education, training, and mentoring to master's level social workers who wish to become teaching faculty in departments/schools of social work or leaders heading up public or private social service organizations.

The DSW will be a 40-credit-hour, fully online program that can be completed in three years (including continuous enrollment during the summer). The program is designed with the working professional in mind. That is, the DSW is designed for currently employed master's level social workers for whom it is not feasible or desirable to stop working to pursue doctoral education. Without this degree, this individual may struggle with advancing into leadership and college/university teaching positions that may not be an option without formal advanced academic training, credentialing, and mentorship.

The DSW will appeal particularly to social workers who currently teach as adjuncts in social work programs but wish to be employed in full-time teaching positions. Since our experience at the Kent School is that between 50 to 70 percent of adjuncts teaching hold a master's degree, social workers with a DSW will appeal to programs looking to hire faculty who have advanced training in teaching,

The Faculty Senate recommended the creation of the Doctorate of Social Work degree program at their meeting on February 3, 2021. The Executive Vice President/University Provost joins the President in making this recommendation.

COMMITTEE ACTION:	BOARD ACTION:
Passed <u>X</u>	Passed X
Did Not Pass	Did Not Pass
Other	Other
	$\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{O}}$
Signature on file	Signature on file
Assistant Secretary	Assistant Secretary

# RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES CONCERNING THE CREATION OF THE CENTER FOR MICROBIOMICS, INFLAMMATION AND PATHOGENICITY

Academic and Student Affairs Committee – March 18, 2021 Board of Trustees – April 22, 2021

# **RECOMMENDATION:**

The President recommends that the Board of Trustees approve the creation of the Center for Microbiomics, Inflammation and Pathogenicity.

# BACKGROUND:

The purpose for the proposed Center for Microbiomics, Inflammation and Pathogenicity (CMIP) is to facilitate advances in the study of the etiology, pathogenesis and treatment of microbiomerelated diseases. An emerging common theme in many diseases, particularly those with an inflammatory component, is the involvement of a microbiome component in the inflammatory process. The microbiota coevolved with the host to help maintain health, and consequently a dysbiotic microbiota can lead to long-term changes in host responses that ultimately form the basis for many diseases. A dramatic illustration of this is provided by recent evidence showing that an overabundance of oral pathogens may contribute to Alzheimer's disease. The interconnectivity between the microbiome and the immune response is thus a fundamental component of a large variety of human diseases in all age groups and underscores the need for an integrated approach to studying the microbiome, inflammation and pathogenicity using cross-disciplinary approaches.

Currently there is an outstanding group of scientists conducting research into diverse aspects of microbiomics and infectious diseases scattered throughout multiple departments in the University. This configuration does not optimally utilize the significant intellectual resources extant at the University, or fully leverage equipment and resources. We have begun to address this issue with the creation of an NIH-funded P20 Cobre on Functional Microbiomics, Inflammation and Pathogenicity.

This is a junior faculty training grant which pairs unfunded early career stage faculty with more senior funded investigators, participating in projects revolving around the theme of microbially-induced inflammation and disease. In the 3 years the Cobre has been operational we have several successes: four junior faculty have received R01 funding, we have been awarded a supplement to study Alzheimer's Disease, and we have constructed a germ-free and gnotobiotic mouse facility. A major purpose of the proposed CMIP is to sustain and expand the progress made by the Cobre. As junior faculty receive funding and rotate off the Cobre, the CMIP will provide a structure for them to remain integrated with senior faculty and with other Cobre investigators and graduates. Importantly, we can continue to support them with Cobre core resources and with core facilities to be developed in the CMIP. This will help maintain productivity on their existing grants and generate preliminary data for new applications, both individual and Center-based.

We will also be able to include investigators that are not part of the Cobre mentoring group, which will allow partnerships among scientists committed to the investigation of diseases to flourish and help ensure a pipeline of mentors and mentees. In turn, this will ensure the long-term sustainability of the Cobre research focus beyond the NIH-funded period, which is a criterion for continued NIH funding.

The collaborative and multi-disciplinary research that will be stimulated by the Center will increase the number of grant submissions and allow us to be more competitive for extramural research funding. A major metric of success of the Center, therefore, would be increases in the number of submitted and funded grant proposals in the associated departments. In particular, the Center will provide impetus for generating a thematic P01 Center grant on the microbiome. The establishment of such a Center would also enhance recruitment in areas related to Center activities, as faculty would be attracted by the opportunities and support provided by the Center. Ultimately, this will increase the research ranking of the University and individual Schools and departments, which is a major mission across HSC. The University would thus receive national and international recognition for this innovate enterprise. The Center will also be aligned with UofL Grand Challenges in the area of inflammatory diseases.

The Faculty Senate recommended the creation of the Center for Microbiomics, Inflammation and Pathogenicity at their meeting on February 3, 2021. The Executive Vice President/University Provost joins the President in making this recommendation.

COMMITTEE ACTION:	BOARD ACTION:
Passed <u>X</u>	Passed X
Did Not Pass	Did Not Pass
Other	Other
Signature on file	Signature on file
Assistant Secretary	Assistant Secretary

# RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES CONCERNING THE UNIVERSITY LIBRARIES FACULTY PERSONNEL DOCUMENT

Academic & Student Affairs Committee – March 18, 2021 Board of Trustees – April 22, 2021

# RECOMMENDATION:

The President recommends that the Board of Trustees approve the revised University Libraries Faculty Personnel Document, as <u>attached</u> herein.

# BACKGROUND:

The Board of Trustees recently approved revisions to the University Libraries Faculty Personnel Document (October 2020). Shortly after that approval, it was discovered that the version approved by the Board was an earlier version, not the version approved by University Libraries Faculty (June 2019) and Faculty Senate (June 2020).

The differences between the two versions are highlighted in the <u>accompanying version preceding</u> a <u>clean copy</u> of the document presented for Board approval. The changes are as follows:

- 1. Additional description of faculty rank names
- Minor stylistic changes e.g., "he or her" → "their"
- 3. Addition of dates by which certain steps in processes need to be completed, e.g., annual reviews
- 4. Clarification of processes, e.g., who conducts evaluations of areas of the work assignment, assigning work to subcommittees.
- 5. Details about rating categories for annual reviews (Outstanding, Commendable, Satisfactory, Needs Improvement, or Unsatisfactory)

The proposed changes were reviewed by the Provost's office and General Counsel. The Executive Vice President and University Provost joins the President in making this recommendation.

COMMITTEE ACTION:	BOARD ACTION:
Passed <u>X</u>	Passed X
Did Not Pass	Did Not Pass
Other	Other
$\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}}$	$\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{O}}$
Signature on file	Signature on file
Assistant Secretary	Assistant Secretary

# UNIVERSITY OF LOUISVILLE UNIVERSITY LIBRARIES FACULTY PERSONNEL DOCUMENT

The University Libraries Faculty (ULF) consists of all full and part-time library faculty members. The function of the ULF is to ensure that the goals and objectives embodied in the unit's vision statement are carried out in service to the University of Louisville and the local and professional communities.

The *University Libraries Faculty Personnel Document* establishes the personnel policy for the ULF in accordance with *The Redbook* and the *Minimum Guidelines for Faculty Personnel Reviews*. This document covers policies and procedures for:

- 1 Faculty Appointments and Tenure
  - 1.1 Full-time Appointments
  - 1.2 Part-time Appointments
  - 1.3 Emeritus Faculty
  - 1.4 Rank for New Appointments
- 2 Faculty Personnel Reviews
  - 2.0 Performance Criteria
  - 2.1 Annual Review
  - 2.2 Tenure
  - 2.3 Promotion in Rank
  - 2.4 Periodic Career Review
- 3 Conditions of Faculty Employment
- 4 Resolution of Disagreements
- 5 Termination of Service
- 6 Procedure for Amending University Libraries Faculty Personnel Document

The ULF delegates responsibility for implementing these policies and procedures to the ULF Personnel Committee, which makes recommendations on all of the above issues to the Dean, University Libraries, hereafter referred to as the Dean. The rules for the composition and election of members of this committee are set out in the *Bylaws of the University Libraries Faculty*. All personnel decisions are made by and are the responsibility of the Dean.

## **1 FACULTY APPOINTMENTS AND TENURE**

## 1.1 FULL-TIME APPOINTMENTS

For description of full-time appointments, including non-tenurable (term), probationary and tenured see *The Redbook* Sec. 4.1.1.

## 1.2 PART-TIME APPOINTMENTS

For description of part-time appointments see *The Redbook* Sec. 4.1.2. For the purposes of all other personnel actions, part-time appointments are considered non-tenurable appointments.

## **1.3 EMERITUS FACULTY**

The honorary title Professor Emeritus may be conferred upon retired faculty if requested by the ULF and the Dean, and approved by the President and Board of Trustees as stated in *The Redbook* Sec. 4.1.3.

#### 1.4 RANK FOR NEW APPOINTMENTS

A librarian must have a master's degree from an American Library Association-accredited

library school or the equivalent professional credentials, or a graduate degree in other professional or scholarly fields where appropriate. An archivist must have a master's degree in archives administration, history, library science, information management, business administration, or other relevant field. University Libraries faculty ranks are Lecturer, Instructor, Assistant Professor, Associate Professor and Professor. These ranks apply to both term and tenure track faculty, except for Lecturer, which is used only for term faculty. The Personnel Committee makes recommendations on rank for new appointments after considering the candidate's credentials with the requirements outlined in the ULF Personnel Document 2.3.A and Appendix II.

## **2 FACULTY PERSONNEL REVIEWS**

#### 2.0 PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

The following criteria are the basis of all faculty reviews in the University Libraries (See Appendix I). Effective performance in Criterion A is essential for all of the reviews documented in Sec. 2. Performance requirements for Criteria B-C are determined according to the type of review and the faculty member's individual workplan during the review period. Failure to accomplish significant activities as listed in the annual workplan(s) will be considered unsatisfactory performance.

Criteria A will be assessed in writing by the supervisor; Criteria B and C will be assessed in writing by the Personnel Committee. The assessment will include an evaluation of performance as specified in the annual workplan. The evaluation ratings are Outstanding, Commendable, Satisfactory, Needs Improvement, and Unsatisfactory. These terms will be applied relative to the expectations for the faculty member's rank as described in Appendix II. Unsatisfactory ratings require additional documentation from the supervisor.

# A. Criterion A: Teaching

The term teaching applies to the wide range of functions librarians and archivists perform. Activities that contribute to the operations of the University Libraries fall under this criterion. These activities include but are not limited to administration, assessment and resource planning, technical services, information delivery, information literacy, liaison activities, outreach, resource selection, and technology administration. Professional development activities are included in this criterion.

## B. Criterion B: Research or Creative Activity

Research or creative activity focuses on the advancement of knowledge in the fields of librarianship, archival administration, information science, information technology, or other areas of scholarship as related to the faculty member's position. This activity may represent a scholarly approach to innovation, assessment, and evaluation of services, participation in scholarly discourse and reflection concerning the discipline, or scholarly work in a complementary discipline that informs or is informed by the librarian/archivist's provision of services. Emphasis will be placed on work that becomes part of the scholarly record.

C. Criterion C: Service to the Profession, the Unit, the University, or the Community This criterion is defined as sharing one's professional expertise within the profession, the unit, the University, or the community in general. Examples of activities in this criterion include participating in professional and scholarly organizations, sponsoring student organizations, participating in University-wide committees and initiatives, and consulting in one's area of professional expertise.

## **2.1 ANNUAL REVIEWS**

- A. Annual reviews follow *The Redbook* Sec. 4.2.1 and the *Minimum Guidelines*.
- B. All ULF members must be reviewed in writing annually (See Appendix I).
- C. Each faculty member creates annually a written workplan in conjunction with his or her their supervisor. The workplan will support the mission and goals of the University Libraries and is the basis for all personnel reviews (See Sec. 2.0.)
  - 1. The annual workplan will specify the responsibilities of the faculty member for teaching, research or creative activity, and service. Each faculty member, in agreement with <a href="their">their</a> supervisor, will indicate what percentage of effort that will be spent in Criteria A-C. The percentages represent an understanding of workload distribution between faculty member and supervisor.
  - 2. Faculty permanently or temporarily appointed or reassigned to specialized roles for the purpose of meeting unit needs may develop workplans that specify activity in only one of those areas.
  - 3. When circumstances require changes in the annual workplan, the faculty member and supervisor must file an amended plan (including an explanation of the necessary changes) for the approval of the Dean. Faculty members may not submit revised annual workplans after November 15.
- D. The annual review measures achievement of the goals outlined in the annual workplan and based on written evidence. Performance evaluations will be based on the individual's accomplishments and contributions in helping the University Libraries meet its goals and objectives in support of the University's strategic plan.
- E. Each faculty member will have the opportunity to present documentation of performance and effort relative to their annual workplan each year. Guidelines for documentation are in Appendix I, the ULF Personnel Document, and the ULF Personnel Committee Manual. By November 15 each year the Personnel Committee will send written instructions regarding the written documentation.
- F. All salary increase decisions will be at the discretion of the Dean.
  - 1. Criterion A will be evaluated in writing by the ULF member's supervisor; Criteria B and C will be evaluated in writing by the Personnel Committee.
  - 2. The evaluations of the supervisor and the Personnel Committee will be provided to the Dean and be the basis of salary increase decisions.
  - 3. The Dean may use a portion (not to exceed 5%) of the funds allocated to the unit for salary increases for a particular year to award special, one-time payments to faculty members for exceptional effort or achievement beyond that rewarded in the regular salary increase process.
  - 4. The standard period of performance to be covered in the review for salary increases will be the preceding calendar year. When there is an increase of 3% or more in the salary pools between two or more consecutive years, the University Libraries Faculty will make a recommendation to the Dean regarding distribution of salary increases taking into consideration the annual rankings achieved by the faculty member over the period.

- G. The Dean will report annually to the ULF at the May meeting and to the Executive Vice President and University Provost the distribution of the percentage salary increases received by all faculty members and a description of the system used to arrive at such salary increases.
- H. The Personnel Committee will preserve annual reviews electronically and in the Office of the Dean. Individual faculty members will be responsible for maintaining the documentary evidence supporting each annual review through the next personnel action.
- I. A positive annual review does not guarantee promotion, tenure, satisfactory periodic career review, or contract renewal.

#### J. Annual Review Procedure

- 1. The calendar for annual review is outlined in the *University Libraries Faculty Personnel Committee Manual*.
- 2. By November 15 each year, the Dean will send a letter to each ULF member announcing the date by which documentation of the year's annual performance must be received.
- 3. Each faculty member will prepare a written annual performance summary describing and documenting all activities in Criteria A-C as outlined in the annual workplan. The format of the section of the annual performance summary covering Criterion A will be agreed upon by the ULF member and their supervisor and can take the form of a narrative or bulleted list. If the faculty member and supervisor are unable to agree the supervisor will determine the format. By November 15 each year, written instructions for the section that pertains to Criteria B and C will be provided by the Personnel Committee. Each faculty member is required to include in the annual review an accounting of all professional work done outside the University.
- 4. Each faculty member will provide their annual workplan and annual performance summary in print and electronic form, as well as documentation, if needed, to the supervisor, and to the Personnel Committee.
- 5. The supervisor will write a formal evaluation of Criterion A and the Personnel Committee will write a formal evaluation of Criteria B-C.

A faculty member's annual performance will be assessed by the Personnel Committee and the faculty member's supervisor using the following scale: faculty members will only be rated for criteria in which they have work plan commitments. Definitions set forth in this section are to provide guidance to faculty members, Personnel Committee, and supervisors in making reasonable and fair assessments of achievements and performance and to encourage a common understanding of good performance rather than rigid criteria that could discourage experimentation and innovation. In effect, the definitions strive to emphasize a balance of quantitative outcomes and qualitative efforts.

## Outstanding:

Performance and accomplishments throughout the rating period that far exceed the standards and expectations of the position, both in quantity and quality.

#### Commendable:

Performance and accomplishments throughout the rating period that consistently met the standards and expectations of the position, and may exceed them occasionally.

# Satisfactory:

Performance and accomplishments throughout the rating period that meet the standards and expectations of the position. Minor deviations may occur, but the overall level of performance meets all position expectations.

## Needs Improvement:

Performance and accomplishments throughout the rating period were mostly met and satisfactory based on the standards and expectations of the position, but a need for further development is recognized.

## Unsatisfactory:

Performance and accomplishments throughout the rating period that were consistently unsatisfactory for the standards and failed to meet the expectations of the position. There was failure to meet essential goals and improvement is needed in all or most aspects of the position. A plan to correct performance, with corresponding timelines, must be outlined and monitored if this rating is given.

- 6. The Personnel Committee will forward the finalized evaluation(s) of Criteria B-C to the supervisor, and the supervisor will forward the finalized evaluation of Criteria A to the Personnel Committee. The supervisor or the Personnel Committee may request a meeting to discuss the review and respond to questions. After consensus on an overall rating of Outstanding, Commendable, Satisfactory, Needs Improvement, or Unsatisfactory has been reached between the Personnel Committee and the supervisor, the supervisor will share all evaluations with the faculty member. If consensus cannot be reached, the supervisor's evaluation stands for Criterion A, and the Personnel Committee's ratings stand for Criteria B and C. The supervisor will share the final, written evaluations with the faculty member.
- 7. The supervisor and the faculty member will meet for discussion of the evaluation of Criteria A-C and, if necessary, develop recommendations for improved performance. Both the supervisor and the faculty member will sign the faculty evaluation summary and forward it back to the Personnel Committee. Each faculty member will be given an opportunity to respond to these recommendations and their performance evaluation so that timely adjustments may be made before the final recommendation of the dean. If agreement cannot be reached, then the faculty member may appeal as outlined in section 2.1.K of this document.
- 8. All faculty evaluations will be provided to the office of the Dean for use in ranking and subsequent determination of salary increases.
- 9. The Dean will make salary decisions and inform each faculty member in writing of their salary decision.
  - a. Only faculty whose performance is judged to be at the level of needs improvement or above in Criteria A will receive a salary increase. Faculty who are judged to be Unsatisfactory in any criteria will not be eligible for a salary increase.
  - b. A decision for a zero salary increase must be submitted for approval of the Executive Vice President and University Provost. This decision will include the

reasons for the zero salary increase and specific suggestions for improving any performance considered to be Unsatisfactory.

10. Probationary or term faculty receiving an overall rating of needs improvement for more than one year will be given a terminal one-year contract. Probationary or term faculty receiving an unsatisfactory rating in all criteria will be terminated. See Sec. 5, Termination of Service.

## K. Annual Review Appeal Process

- 1. The annual review appeal process outlined in this section is conducted outside of the University's formal grievance procedure. For additional information about resolution of faculty disputes, consult Section 4.4 of the Redbook.
- 2. Faculty members have the right to appeal the performance evaluation for the current review period by submitting a claim in writing to the Appeals Committee. Claims may concern Criterion A, B, C, or any combination thereof, and must be submitted within ten working days of receiving the performance evaluation letter. Claims must identify the specific area or areas in dispute and provide directly relevant evidence and/or facts substantiating those claims.
- 3. The Appeals Committee is responsible for reviewing the faculty person's claim and may revise a faculty member's rating. The Appeals Committee will consider the faculty member's claim and report a final decision in writing within ten working days. During this time, the Appeals Committee may request additional evidence and/or facts from or may, if judged necessary, meet with the faculty member and/or faculty member's supervisor(s) for further clarification and discussion.
- 4. When the appeal is made by a faculty member whose direct supervisor is a standing member of the Appeals Committee, the alternate member of the Personnel Committee will replace that faculty member for the duration of the appeals process through its conclusion.
- 5. The Appeals Committee will report the recommendation and rationale of the committee in writing to the Dean and all parties directly involved in the appeal. The Dean will respond with a rationale to the recommendation in writing to all parties directly involved in the appeal. The Dean's decision is final within the unit.
- 6. Salary decisions may be appealed in writing to the Dean within five working days of receiving the salary decision letter. The Dean will reconsider the salary decision and respond in writing to the faculty member's appeal within five working days.

## 2.2 TENURE REVIEWS

**A.** All promotion and tenure reviews are conducted by a Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee of the Personnel committee.

#### B. Length of Probationary Period

- 1. Each faculty member eligible for tenure must be evaluated within twelve months after five years of service applied toward tenure. In most cases, the tenure review will occur at the same time as the review for promotion to Associate Professor.
- 2. All probationary faculty who have had seven years of service counted in a tenurable faculty position, if reemployed full time, shall be granted tenure.

#### C. Leaves of Absence

One year spent on an officially approved leave of absence may be counted toward the seven

years of full-time necessary for tenure. Any leave granted during the probationary period must carry with it a stipulation in writing as to whether the leave counts toward tenure.

## D. Extension of Probationary Period

See The Redbook Sec. 4.2.2.C.

#### E. Pre-Tenure Review

Faculty members will undergo a comprehensive pre-tenure review, typically after the third year of service in the University Libraries. If a faculty member receives three or more years of credit toward tenure when he or she is hired, the hiring process may be considered a pre-tenure review. The purpose of the pre-tenure review is to inform the faculty member about progress toward meeting the University Libraries' standards for tenure. The review will be conducted with the same level of rigor and by the same process as a tenure review; however, external reviews are not required. Faculty members undergoing a pre-tenure review will receive the results in writing. This review is advisory only and does not constitute sufficient justification for award or denial of tenure.

## F. Early Tenure

Early tenure may be granted as indicated in *The Redbook*, Sec. 4.2.2.E.

#### G. Criteria for Tenure

- Completion of the probationary period with successful annual or pre-tenure reviews is not sufficient grounds for tenure. Candidates must demonstrate the level of performance required for promotion to Associate Professor as described in Sec. 2.3.A.3.
   It should be noted that tenure is a more critical action than promotion because it is evidence of the University's firm and enduring commitment to the individual.
- 2. Faculty members in a probationary status will be affected by any amendments to or change in the criteria for tenure subsequent to their appointment. In such cases, appropriate consideration will be given to the amount of time remaining in their probationary period when the change becomes effective.

#### H. Evaluation for Tenure

- 1. For the purposes of tenure reviews, the University Libraries are a unit without departments or divisions.
- 2. Each faculty member eligible for tenure must be evaluated within twelve months after five years of service applied toward tenure. Evaluation for tenure, once originated, shall proceed as indicated unless the faculty member resigns or is subject to termination.
- 3. The Personnel Committee will notify faculty members as they become eligible for tenure review.
- 4. The candidate will submit relevant material for review, as described in Appendix II. Tenure reviews will require external review. In the case of tenure with promotion only one dossier will be submitted. Procedures for external review are outlined in Appendix II.
- 5. The candidate will be shown any material included in the tenure dossier upon request. The candidate may rebut any material in the file within five working days of the deadline for receipt of material by the Personnel Committee.
- 6. After providing access to the candidate's dossier for a period of no less than ten days, the Personnel Committee will hold a meeting of tenured faculty at or above the rank being sought (excluding the Dean). At this meeting, a majority of those eligible to vote must be present, or attend virtually, and these faculty members will cast votes by written secret

- ballot for or against promotion and tenure for each candidate under review. The vote tally will be announced to those present at the meeting. Absentee ballots will not be permitted, however virtual participation in the discussion and voting will be allowed. Any faculty member present may call for discussion of a candidate's dossier.
- 7. The Personnel Committee will tally the votes, record the full vote count for each candidate under review, and incorporate this into their recommendation to the Dean. The Personnel Committee will base its recommendation on the criteria for tenure and the documentation listed in Appendix II, and may seek additional information in writing, if necessary.
- 8. The Personnel Committee will communicate its recommendation regarding tenure in writing to the Dean. This recommendation will be included in all higher levels of review.
- 9. The faculty member may add newly available material evidence for reconsideration by the previous evaluators or rebuttals before the file is forwarded to the Executive Vice President and University Provost.
- 10. The recommendation of the Dean shall be the unit recommendation forwarded to all higher levels of review. Thereafter *The Redbook* process is followed, Sec. 4.2.2.H.

#### 2.3 PROMOTION IN RANK

All members of the ULF (except Lecturers) are eligible for promotion through the faculty ranks. Promotion is granted on the basis of significant contributions to the University Libraries, the University, the profession, or the community, state, or nation. Successful annual reviews are not sufficient grounds for promotion. Candidates will also be evaluated on the basis of a continuing record of achievement; contributions to the written scholarly record; evidence of professional development; and contributions to the mission and goals of the University Libraries. Neither seniority nor time in rank is to be the sole basis for promotion. It is the responsibility of the faculty member to ensure his or her ability to satisfy the criteria for promotion as described below. All promotion and tenure reviews are conducted by a Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee of the Personnel Committee.

## A. Criteria for Promotion in Rank for Full-Time Faculty

- 1. Lecturers are not eligible for promotion.
- 2. Promotion from Instructor to Assistant Professor

Promotion from Instructor to Assistant Professor requires at least two years of experience at the rank of Instructor, one of which must be at the University of Louisville. Promotion from Instructor to Assistant Professor is based primarily on evidence of successful performance in the faculty member's position, and with at least one accomplishment in Criterion B and Criterion C each over the review period. See Appendix II, Sec. I, for characteristics of the Assistant Professor rank.

3. Promotion from Assistant Professor to Associate Professor

Promotion from Assistant Professor to Associate Professor normally requires at least four years of experience at the rank of Assistant Professor, three of which must be at the University of Louisville. Promotion at this level is based on evidence of broad proficiency in Criteria A, B, and C, so as to show continuing promise to develop the faculty member's individual strengths, see *Minimum Guidelines*, Sec. 4.E. Such proficiency will involve successful performance in the faculty member's position and, normally, at least one accomplishment in Criterion B and one activity in Criterion C for each year since the last personnel action with a minimum of four in each criterion. The typical expectation for accomplishment in B is two scholarly articles in peer reviewed journals or works demonstrating a comparable level of scholarship and one scholarly presentation at a meeting of a professional organization. It must

be evident that activity in Criterion B and C is consistent and will continue. See Appendix II, Sec. I, for characteristics of the Associate Professor rank. In the case of those achieving tenure with this promotion, the criteria for tenure must be met, as described in Sec. 2.2 and Appendix II.

4. Promotion from Associate Professor to Professor

Promotion from Associate Professor to Professor normally requires a minimum of five years of experience at the rank of Associate Professor, three of which must be at the University of Louisville. Candidates for promotion to Professor must be evaluated in the areas and by the distribution of effort specified in their approved annual workplans for the period under review. The typical expectation in Criterion B for promotion to Professor is at least three scholarly articles in peer-reviewed journals or works demonstrating a comparable level of scholarship, and at least three scholarly presentations at meetings of professional organizations since attaining the rank of Associate Professor. In Criterion C, the typical expectation is at least one activity for each year since promotion to Associate Professor. It must be evident that activity in Criterion B and C is consistent and will continue. See Appendix II, Sec. I, for characteristics of the Professor rank.

- 5. Criteria for Promotion in Rank for Part-Time Faculty
  - a. It is recognized that the responsibilities of part-time faculty may differ significantly from those with full-time appointments. In a promotion consideration, there should be tangible evidence that a candidate's contributions are significant to the mission of the University Libraries.
  - b. Neither seniority nor time in rank is to be the sole basis for promotion. The criteria for promotion of part-time faculty members are the same as those for full-time as described above.

#### **B. Evaluation for Promotion**

- 1. For the purposes of promotion reviews, the University Libraries are a unit without departments or divisions.
- 2. The Personnel Committee will notify faculty members as they become eligible for promotion review.
- 3. The candidate will submit relevant material for review, as described in Appendix II. Promotions from Assistant Professor to Associate Professor, or from Associate Professor to Professor, will require external review. Procedures for external review are outlined in Appendix II.
- 4. The candidate will be shown any material included in the promotion dossier upon request. The candidate may rebut any material in the file within five working days of the deadline for receipt of material by the Personnel Committee.
- 5. After providing access to the candidate's dossier for a period of no less than ten days, the Personnel Committee will hold a meeting of tenured faculty at or above the rank being sought (excluding the Dean). At this meeting, a majority of those eligible to vote must be present, or attend virtually, and these faculty members will cast votes by written secret ballot for or against promotion for each candidate under review. The vote tally will be announced to those present at the meeting. Absentee ballots will not be permitted, however virtual participation in the discussion and voting will be allowed. Any faculty member present may call for discussion of a candidate's dossier.
- 6. The Personnel Committee will tally the votes, record the full vote count for each candidate under review, and incorporate this into their recommendation to the Dean. The Personnel Committee will base its recommendation on the criteria for promotion

- and the documentation listed in Appendix II, and may seek additional information in writing, if necessary.
- 7. The Personnel Committee will communicate its recommendation regarding promotion in writing to the Dean. This recommendation will be included in all higher levels of review.
- 8. The faculty member may add newly available material evidence for reconsideration by the previous evaluators before the file is forwarded to the Executive Vice President and University Provost.
- 9. Based on the file compiled through this process, the Dean will make the unit recommendation. The recommendation of the Dean shall be the unit recommendation forwarded to all higher levels of review. Prior to submitting the unit recommendation to the Executive Vice President and University Provost, the candidate will have the opportunity to review the recommendations and, within five working days, write a rebuttal if desired. The Dean will forward the triptych to the Executive Vice President and University Provost and will notify the Personnel Committee, the supervisor, and the candidate of the unit recommendation. Thereafter *The Redbook* process is followed, Sec. 4.2.2.H.
- 10. If the Executive Vice President and University Provost disagrees with the unit recommendation, the Executive Vice President and University Provost will send a statement of the reasons for his or her recommendation to the faculty member and the Dean, each of whom will have the opportunity to respond in writing prior to any recommendation to the President. The file containing all comments and recommendation will be made available to the President.
- 11. If the recommendation of the Executive Vice President and University Provost is negative, the candidate must be notified by certified mail. The candidate may request a hearing before the University Faculty Grievance Committee within ten working days following receipt of the certified letter.
- 12. The Executive Vice President and University Provost will prepare a recommendation for the President's review, and the President makes the final recommendation to the Board of Trustees.
- 13. In any case where the initial recommendation to deny promotion is by the President, the candidate will be notified of the reason in writing by the President and may appeal to the University Faculty Grievance Committee within ten working days following the President's notice. The report of the University Faculty Grievance Committee will make a recommendation for promotion or denial of promotion to the Board of Trustees. The President and the candidate have ten working days following the report of the University Faculty Grievance Committee to submit their written responses to the report to the Board of Trustees.
- 14. In all cases, the Board of Trustees makes the final decision on promotion.

#### 2.4 PERIODIC CAREER REVIEW

The purpose of Periodic Career Review (PCR) is to promote the continued professional development of the faculty.

- A. Faculty members with tenure shall undergo a career review after every fifth year of service with the following exceptions:
  - 1. A successful promotion review will serve as a career review, and the next review will not take place until five years after the promotion review.
  - 2. When the review period ends in a sabbatical (or other leave) year, the career review shall be deferred until the next academic year.

- 3. Faculty members planning to request promotion to Professor in the next academic year may defer review for one year.
- B. All of *The Redbook* rights of due process and appeal for faculty will apply in these reviews.
- C. Procedures for Periodic Career Review
  - 1. All periodic career reviews for faculty members with tenure shall take place in the spring semester of the academic year.
  - 2. The calendar for PCR is outlined in the *University Libraries Faculty Personnel Committee Manual*. The Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee will notify those faculty members scheduled for review, their supervisors, and the Dean.
  - 3. The Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee will base its evaluation on annual reviews and associated documentation for each of the five years being reviewed. The faculty member may add any appropriate material.
  - 4. The evaluation report will characterize the faculty member's overall contribution as satisfactory: meeting University Libraries criteria, or unsatisfactory: not meeting University Libraries criteria.
- D. If the faculty member has received at least a Satisfactory rating in all annual reviews for the specified review period, the faculty member has met the University Libraries criteria. The Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee will review the file and characterize the member's contribution as satisfactory: meeting University Libraries criteria.
- E. If the faculty member has not received at least a Satisfactory rating in all annual reviews for the specified review period, the Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee will review the material to determine whether the faculty member's performance has met the University Libraries criteria overall meriting a satisfactory rating, or is unsatisfactory.
- F. Supplementary salary increases may be awarded per the Minimum Guidelines, Sec. V.
- G. The Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee will forward its recommendations regarding PCR to the Dean. The Dean will issue the final evaluation report to the faculty member and will notify the Executive Vice President and University Provost in writing indicating satisfactory or unsatisfactory results.
  - 1. If the conclusion of the report is that the faculty member's overall contribution has been satisfactory over the review period, the faculty member begins the five-year review cycle in the following year.
  - 2. If the conclusion of the report is that the faculty member's overall contribution has been unsatisfactory, the report will state the deficiency(ies) that was (were) the basis for this conclusion. Within thirty calendar days of receipt of the report, the faculty member, in consultation with the appropriate supervisor and the Dean, will prepare a career development plan to remedy the deficiency(ies) in one year unless the Dean approves a longer period.
    - a. If the faculty member completes the agreed-upon career development plan, the faculty member shall then have one year to demonstrate satisfactory performance. The faculty member will then undergo another periodic review in the following academic year.
    - b. If the faculty member fails to complete the agreed-upon career development plan, the faculty member may ask for an extension of one year, to be granted at the discretion of the Dean. After the extension, the Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee, the Dean, and the supervisor will assess the faculty member's progress in the completion of the professional development plan.
      - If satisfactory, a special career review will be conducted one year later by the Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee in conjunction with the Dean and the supervisor.

ii. If unsatisfactory, the faculty member will be subject to appropriate disciplinary action, which may include proceedings for termination as described in *The Redbook*, Article 4.5.

## **3 CONDITIONS OF FACULTY EMPLOYMENT**

The conditions of faculty employment in the University Libraries follow *The Redbook*, Article 4.3.

#### **4 RESOLUTION OF DISAGREEMENTS**

Except for those with temporary or emeritus appointments, all ULF members may participate in the procedures described in *The Redbook*, Article 4.4; however, only tenured ULF members may seek election to the University Faculty Grievance Committee.

#### **5 TERMINATION OF SERVICE**

Termination of service of tenured or probationary faculty follows The Redbook, Article 4.5.

#### 6 PROCEDURE FOR AMENDING UNIVERSITY LIBRARIES FACULTY PERSONNEL DOCUMENT

A. Any voting member of the ULF may propose changes to the University Libraries Faculty Personnel Document or any of its appendices. Proposed amendments must be submitted in writing to the Personnel Committee. The Personnel Committee must distribute the proposed amendment to each member of the ULF at least five working days in advance of a faculty meeting.

- B. A written ballot must be distributed at the meeting. In order for the amendment to be approved, at least half of the membership must be present and the amendment must be approved by at least two-thirds of the members present. If a majority of members is not present or if the majority of the faculty members present so wish, a mail ballot may be used.
- C. Amendments to the *University Libraries Faculty Personnel Document* must also be approved by the Faculty Senate, the Executive Vice President and University Provost, and the Board of Trustees. Amendments to any of the appendices can be made solely with the approval of the ULF.

Approved by University Libraries Faculty: March 21, 1985

Approved by Board of Trustees: May 20, 1985

Approved by University Libraries Faculty: November 15, 1990

Approved by Board of Trustees: March 25, 1991 Amended by University Libraries Faculty: April 18, 1996

Approved by Board of Trustees: May 20, 1996

Amended by University Libraries Faculty: March 26, 1998; January 27, 1999; December 15, 1999; April 20, 2000

Approved by Board of Trustees: February 26, 2001 Amended by University Libraries Faculty: September 2001

Approved by Board of Trustees: April 22, 2002

Approved by University Libraries Faculty: September 23, 2010 Approved by Board of Trustees: November 11, 2010

Approved by University Libraries Faculty: February 20, 2012

Approved by Board of Trustees: June 28, 2012

Approved by University Libraries Faculty: June 14, 2019

Approved by Faculty Senate: June 3, 2020 Approved by Board of Trustees: October 28, 2020

Corrected version approved by Board of Trustees: April 22, 2021

# UNIVERSITY OF LOUISVILLE UNIVERSITY LIBRARIES FACULTY PERSONNEL DOCUMENT

The University Libraries Faculty (ULF) consists of all full and part-time library faculty members. The function of the ULF is to ensure that the goals and objectives embodied in the unit's vision statement are carried out in service to the University of Louisville and the local and professional communities.

The *University Libraries Faculty Personnel Document* establishes the personnel policy for the ULF in accordance with *The Redbook* and the *Minimum Guidelines for Faculty Personnel Reviews*. This document covers policies and procedures for:

- 1 Faculty Appointments and Tenure
  - 1.1 Full-time Appointments
  - 1.2 Part-time Appointments
  - 1.3 Emeritus Faculty
  - 1.4 Rank for New Appointments
- 2 Faculty Personnel Reviews
  - 2.0 Performance Criteria
  - 2.1 Annual Review
  - 2.2 Tenure
  - 2.3 Promotion in Rank
  - 2.4 Periodic Career Review
- 3 Conditions of Faculty Employment
- 4 Resolution of Disagreements
- 5 Termination of Service
- 6 Procedure for Amending University Libraries Faculty Personnel Document

The ULF delegates responsibility for implementing these policies and procedures to the ULF Personnel Committee, which makes recommendations on all of the above issues to the Dean, University Libraries, hereafter referred to as the Dean. The rules for the composition and election of members of this committee are set out in the *Bylaws of the University Libraries Faculty*. All personnel decisions are made by and are the responsibility of the Dean.

## **1 FACULTY APPOINTMENTS AND TENURE**

## 1.1 FULL-TIME APPOINTMENTS

For description of full-time appointments, including non-tenurable (term), probationary and tenured see *The Redbook* Sec. 4.1.1.

## 1.2 PART-TIME APPOINTMENTS

For description of part-time appointments see *The Redbook* Sec. 4.1.2. For the purposes of all other personnel actions, part-time appointments are considered non-tenurable appointments.

## **1.3 EMERITUS FACULTY**

The honorary title Professor Emeritus may be conferred upon retired faculty if requested by the ULF and the Dean, and approved by the President and Board of Trustees as stated in *The Redbook* Sec. 4.1.3.

#### 1.4 RANK FOR NEW APPOINTMENTS

A librarian must have a master's degree from an American Library Association-accredited

library school or the equivalent professional credentials, or a graduate degree in other professional or scholarly fields where appropriate. An archivist must have a master's degree in archives administration, history, library science, information management, business administration, or other relevant field. University Libraries faculty ranks are Lecturer, Instructor, Assistant Professor, Associate Professor and Professor. These ranks apply to both term and tenure track faculty, except for Lecturer, which is used only for term faculty. The Personnel Committee makes recommendations on rank for new appointments after considering the candidate's credentials with the requirements outlined in the ULF Personnel Document 2.3.A and Appendix II.

## **2 FACULTY PERSONNEL REVIEWS**

#### 2.0 PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

The following criteria are the basis of all faculty reviews in the University Libraries (See Appendix I). Effective performance in Criterion A is essential for all of the reviews documented in Sec. 2. Performance requirements for Criteria B-C are determined according to the type of review and the faculty member's individual workplan during the review period. Failure to accomplish significant activities as listed in the annual workplan(s) will be considered unsatisfactory performance.

Criteria A will be assessed in writing by the supervisor; Criteria B and C will be assessed in writing by the Personnel Committee. The assessment will include an evaluation of performance as specified in the annual workplan. The evaluation ratings are Outstanding, Commendable, Satisfactory, Needs Improvement, and Unsatisfactory. These terms will be applied relative to the expectations for the faculty member's rank as described in Appendix II. Unsatisfactory ratings require additional documentation from the supervisor.

# A. Criterion A: Teaching

The term teaching applies to the wide range of functions librarians and archivists perform. Activities that contribute to the operations of the University Libraries fall under this criterion. These activities include but are not limited to administration, assessment and resource planning, technical services, information delivery, information literacy, liaison activities, outreach, resource selection, and technology administration. Professional development activities are included in this criterion.

## B. Criterion B: Research or Creative Activity

Research or creative activity focuses on the advancement of knowledge in the fields of librarianship, archival administration, information science, information technology, or other areas of scholarship as related to the faculty member's position. This activity may represent a scholarly approach to innovation, assessment, and evaluation of services, participation in scholarly discourse and reflection concerning the discipline, or scholarly work in a complementary discipline that informs or is informed by the librarian/archivist's provision of services. Emphasis will be placed on work that becomes part of the scholarly record.

C. Criterion C: Service to the Profession, the Unit, the University, or the Community This criterion is defined as sharing one's professional expertise within the profession, the unit, the University, or the community in general. Examples of activities in this criterion include participating in professional and scholarly organizations, sponsoring student organizations, participating in University-wide committees and initiatives, and consulting in one's area of professional expertise.

## **2.1 ANNUAL REVIEWS**

- A. Annual reviews follow *The Redbook* Sec. 4.2.1 and the *Minimum Guidelines*.
- B. All ULF members must be reviewed in writing annually (See Appendix I).
- C. Each faculty member creates annually a written workplan in conjunction with their supervisor. The workplan will support the mission and goals of the University Libraries and is the basis for all personnel reviews (See Sec. 2.0.)
  - 1. The annual workplan will specify the responsibilities of the faculty member for teaching, research or creative activity, and service. Each faculty member, in agreement with their supervisor, will indicate what percentage of effort that will be spent in Criteria A-C. The percentages represent an understanding of workload distribution between faculty member and supervisor.
  - 2. Faculty permanently or temporarily appointed or reassigned to specialized roles for the purpose of meeting unit needs may develop workplans that specify activity in only one of those areas.
  - 3. When circumstances require changes in the annual workplan, the faculty member and supervisor must file an amended plan (including an explanation of the necessary changes) for the approval of the Dean. Faculty members may not submit revised annual workplans after November 15.
- D. The annual review measures achievement of the goals outlined in the annual workplan and based on written evidence. Performance evaluations will be based on the individual's accomplishments and contributions in helping the University Libraries meet its goals and objectives in support of the University's strategic plan.
- E. Each faculty member will have the opportunity to present documentation of performance and effort relative to their annual workplan each year. Guidelines for documentation are in Appendix I, the ULF Personnel Document, and the ULF Personnel Committee Manual. By November 15 each year the Personnel Committee will send written instructions regarding the written documentation.
- F. All salary increase decisions will be at the discretion of the Dean.
  - 1. Criterion A will be evaluated in writing by the ULF member's supervisor; Criteria B and C will be evaluated in writing by the Personnel Committee.
  - 2. The evaluations of the supervisor and the Personnel Committee will be provided to the Dean and be the basis of salary increase decisions.
  - 3. The Dean may use a portion (not to exceed 5%) of the funds allocated to the unit for salary increases for a particular year to award special, one-time payments to faculty members for exceptional effort or achievement beyond that rewarded in the regular salary increase process.
  - 4. The standard period of performance to be covered in the review for salary increases will be the preceding calendar year. When there is an increase of 3% or more in the salary pools between two or more consecutive years, the University Libraries Faculty will make a recommendation to the Dean regarding distribution of salary increases taking into consideration the annual rankings achieved by the faculty member over the period.

- G. The Dean will report annually to the ULF at the May meeting and to the Executive Vice President and University Provost the distribution of the percentage salary increases received by all faculty members and a description of the system used to arrive at such salary increases.
- H. The Personnel Committee will preserve annual reviews electronically and in the Office of the Dean. Individual faculty members will be responsible for maintaining the documentary evidence supporting each annual review through the next personnel action.
- I. A positive annual review does not guarantee promotion, tenure, satisfactory periodic career review, or contract renewal.

#### J. Annual Review Procedure

- 1. The calendar for annual review is outlined in the *University Libraries Faculty Personnel Committee Manual*.
- 2. By November 15 each year, the Dean will send a letter to each ULF member announcing the date by which documentation of the year's annual performance must be received.
- 3. Each faculty member will prepare a written annual performance summary describing and documenting all activities in Criteria A-C as outlined in the annual workplan. The format of the section of the annual performance summary covering Criterion A will be agreed upon by the ULF member and their supervisor and can take the form of a narrative or bulleted list. If the faculty member and supervisor are unable to agree the supervisor will determine the format. By November 15 each year, written instructions for the section that pertains to Criteria B and C will be provided by the Personnel Committee. Each faculty member is required to include in the annual review an accounting of all professional work done outside the University.
- 4. Each faculty member will provide their annual workplan and annual performance summary in print and electronic form, as well as documentation, if needed, to the supervisor, and to the Personnel Committee.
- 5. The supervisor will write a formal evaluation of Criterion A and the Personnel Committee will write a formal evaluation of Criteria B-C.

A faculty member's annual performance will be assessed by the Personnel Committee and the faculty member's supervisor using the following scale: faculty members will only be rated for criteria in which they have work plan commitments. Definitions set forth in this section are to provide guidance to faculty members, Personnel Committee, and supervisors in making reasonable and fair assessments of achievements and performance and to encourage a common understanding of good performance rather than rigid criteria that could discourage experimentation and innovation. In effect, the definitions strive to emphasize a balance of quantitative outcomes and qualitative efforts.

## Outstanding:

Performance and accomplishments throughout the rating period that far exceed the standards and expectations of the position, both in quantity and quality.

#### Commendable:

Performance and accomplishments throughout the rating period that consistently met the standards and expectations of the position, and may exceed them occasionally.

# Satisfactory:

Performance and accomplishments throughout the rating period that meet the standards and expectations of the position. Minor deviations may occur, but the overall level of performance meets all position expectations.

## Needs Improvement:

Performance and accomplishments throughout the rating period were mostly met and satisfactory based on the standards and expectations of the position, but a need for further development is recognized.

# Unsatisfactory:

Performance and accomplishments throughout the rating period that were consistently unsatisfactory for the standards and failed to meet the expectations of the position. There was failure to meet essential goals and improvement is needed in all or most aspects of the position. A plan to correct performance, with corresponding timelines, must be outlined and monitored if this rating is given.

- 6. The Personnel Committee will forward the finalized evaluation(s) of Criteria B-C to the supervisor, and the supervisor will forward the finalized evaluation of Criteria A to the Personnel Committee. The supervisor or the Personnel Committee may request a meeting to discuss the review and respond to questions. After consensus on an overall rating of Outstanding, Commendable, Satisfactory, Needs Improvement, or Unsatisfactory has been reached between the Personnel Committee and the supervisor, the supervisor will share all evaluations with the faculty member. If consensus cannot be reached, the supervisor's evaluation stands for Criterion A, and the Personnel Committee's ratings stand for Criteria B and C. The supervisor will share the final, written evaluations with the faculty member.
- 7. The supervisor and the faculty member will meet for discussion of the evaluation of Criteria A-C and, if necessary, develop recommendations for improved performance. Both the supervisor and the faculty member will sign the faculty evaluation summary and forward it back to the Personnel Committee. Each faculty member will be given an opportunity to respond to these recommendations and their performance evaluation so that timely adjustments may be made before the final recommendation of the dean. If agreement cannot be reached, then the faculty member may appeal as outlined in section 2.1.K of this document.
- 8. All faculty evaluations will be provided to the office of the Dean for use in ranking and subsequent determination of salary increases.
- 9. The Dean will make salary decisions and inform each faculty member in writing of their salary decision.
  - a. Only faculty whose performance is judged to be at the level of needs improvement or above in Criteria A will receive a salary increase. Faculty who are judged to be Unsatisfactory in any criteria will not be eligible for a salary increase.
  - b. A decision for a zero-salary increase must be submitted for approval of the Executive Vice President and University Provost. This decision will include the

reasons for the zero salary increase and specific suggestions for improving any performance considered to be Unsatisfactory.

10. Probationary or term faculty receiving an overall rating of needs improvement for more than one year will be given a terminal one-year contract. Probationary or term faculty receiving an unsatisfactory rating in all criteria will be terminated. See Sec. 5, Termination of Service.

## K. Annual Review Appeal Process

- 1. The annual review appeal process outlined in this section is conducted outside of the University's formal grievance procedure. For additional information about resolution of faculty disputes, consult Section 4.4 of the Redbook.
- 2. Faculty members have the right to appeal the performance evaluation for the current review period by submitting a claim in writing to the Appeals Committee. Claims may concern Criterion A, B, C, or any combination thereof, and must be submitted within ten working days of receiving the performance evaluation letter. Claims must identify the specific area or areas in dispute and provide directly relevant evidence and/or facts substantiating those claims.
- 3. The Appeals Committee is responsible for reviewing the faculty person's claim and may revise a faculty member's rating. The Appeals Committee will consider the faculty member's claim and report a final decision in writing within ten working days. During this time, the Appeals Committee may request additional evidence and/or facts from or may, if judged necessary, meet with the faculty member and/or faculty member's supervisor(s) for further clarification and discussion.
- 4. When the appeal is made by a faculty member whose direct supervisor is a standing member of the Appeals Committee, the alternate member of the Personnel Committee will replace that faculty member for the duration of the appeals process through its conclusion.
- 5. The Appeals Committee will report the recommendation and rationale of the committee in writing to the Dean and all parties directly involved in the appeal. The Dean will respond with a rationale to the recommendation in writing to all parties directly involved in the appeal. The Dean's decision is final within the unit.
- 6. Salary decisions may be appealed in writing to the Dean within five working days of receiving the salary decision letter. The Dean will reconsider the salary decision and respond in writing to the faculty member's appeal within five working days.

## 2.2 TENURE REVIEWS

**A.** All promotion and tenure reviews are conducted by a Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee of the Personnel committee.

#### B. Length of Probationary Period

- 1. Each faculty member eligible for tenure must be evaluated within twelve months after five years of service applied toward tenure. In most cases, the tenure review will occur at the same time as the review for promotion to Associate Professor.
- 2. All probationary faculty who have had seven years of service counted in a tenurable faculty position, if reemployed full time, shall be granted tenure.

#### C. Leaves of Absence

One year spent on an officially approved leave of absence may be counted toward the seven

years of full-time necessary for tenure. Any leave granted during the probationary period must carry with it a stipulation in writing as to whether the leave counts toward tenure.

## D. Extension of Probationary Period

See The Redbook Sec. 4.2.2.C.

## E. Pre-Tenure Review

Faculty members will undergo a comprehensive pre-tenure review, typically after the third year of service in the University Libraries. If a faculty member receives three or more years of credit toward tenure when he or she is hired, the hiring process may be considered a pre-tenure review. The purpose of the pre-tenure review is to inform the faculty member about progress toward meeting the University Libraries' standards for tenure. The review will be conducted with the same level of rigor and by the same process as a tenure review; however, external reviews are not required. Faculty members undergoing a pre-tenure review will receive the results in writing. This review is advisory only and does not constitute sufficient justification for award or denial of tenure.

## F. Early Tenure

Early tenure may be granted as indicated in *The Redbook*, Sec. 4.2.2.E.

#### G. Criteria for Tenure

- 1. Completion of the probationary period with successful annual or pre-tenure reviews is not sufficient grounds for tenure. Candidates must demonstrate the level of performance required for promotion to Associate Professor as described in Sec. 2.3.A.3. It should be noted that tenure is a more critical action than promotion because it is evidence of the University's firm and enduring commitment to the individual.
- 2. Faculty members in a probationary status will be affected by any amendments to or change in the criteria for tenure subsequent to their appointment. In such cases, appropriate consideration will be given to the amount of time remaining in their probationary period when the change becomes effective.

#### H. Evaluation for Tenure

- 1. For the purposes of tenure reviews, the University Libraries are a unit without departments or divisions.
- 2. Each faculty member eligible for tenure must be evaluated within twelve months after five years of service applied toward tenure. Evaluation for tenure, once originated, shall proceed as indicated unless the faculty member resigns or is subject to termination.
- 3. The Personnel Committee will notify faculty members as they become eligible for tenure review.
- 4. The candidate will submit relevant material for review, as described in Appendix II. Tenure reviews will require external review. In the case of tenure with promotion only one dossier will be submitted. Procedures for external review are outlined in Appendix II.
- 5. The candidate will be shown any material included in the tenure dossier upon request. The candidate may rebut any material in the file within five working days of the deadline for receipt of material by the Personnel Committee.
- 6. After providing access to the candidate's dossier for a period of no less than ten days, the Personnel Committee will hold a meeting of tenured faculty at or above the rank being sought (excluding the Dean). At this meeting, a majority of those eligible to vote must be present, or attend virtually, and these faculty members will cast votes by written secret ballot for or against promotion and tenure for each candidate under review. The vote tally will be announced to those present at the meeting. Absentee ballots will not be

- permitted, however virtual participation in the discussion and voting will be allowed. Any faculty member present may call for discussion of a candidate's dossier.
- 7. The Personnel Committee will tally the votes, record the full vote count for each candidate under review, and incorporate this into their recommendation to the Dean. The Personnel Committee will base its recommendation on the criteria for tenure and the documentation listed in Appendix II, and may seek additional information in writing, if necessary.
- 8. The Personnel Committee will communicate its recommendation regarding tenure in writing to the Dean. This recommendation will be included in all higher levels of review.
- 9. The faculty member may add newly available material evidence for reconsideration by the previous evaluators or rebuttals before the file is forwarded to the Executive Vice President and University Provost.
- 10. The recommendation of the Dean shall be the unit recommendation forwarded to all higher levels of review. Thereafter *The Redbook* process is followed, Sec. 4.2.2.H.

#### 2.3 PROMOTION IN RANK

All members of the ULF (except Lecturers) are eligible for promotion through the faculty ranks. Promotion is granted on the basis of significant contributions to the University Libraries, the University, the profession, or the community, state, or nation. Successful annual reviews are not sufficient grounds for promotion. Candidates will also be evaluated on the basis of a continuing record of achievement; contributions to the written scholarly record; evidence of professional development; and contributions to the mission and goals of the University Libraries. Neither seniority nor time in rank is to be the sole basis for promotion. It is the responsibility of the faculty member to ensure his or her ability to satisfy the criteria for promotion as described below. All promotion and tenure reviews are conducted by a Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee of the Personnel Committee.

## A. Criteria for Promotion in Rank for Full-Time Faculty

- 1. Lecturers are not eligible for promotion.
- 2. Promotion from Instructor to Assistant Professor

Promotion from Instructor to Assistant Professor requires at least two years of experience at the rank of Instructor, one of which must be at the University of Louisville. Promotion from Instructor to Assistant Professor is based primarily on evidence of successful performance in the faculty member's position, and with at least one accomplishment in Criterion B and Criterion C each over the review period. See Appendix II, Sec. I, for characteristics of the Assistant Professor rank.

3. Promotion from Assistant Professor to Associate Professor

Promotion from Assistant Professor to Associate Professor normally requires at least four years of experience at the rank of Assistant Professor, three of which must be at the University of Louisville. Promotion at this level is based on evidence of broad proficiency in Criteria A, B, and C, so as to show continuing promise to develop the faculty member's individual strengths, see *Minimum Guidelines*, Sec. 4.E. Such proficiency will involve successful performance in the faculty member's position and, normally, at least one accomplishment in Criterion B and one activity in Criterion C for each year since the last personnel action with a minimum of four in each criterion. The typical expectation for accomplishment in B is two scholarly articles in peer reviewed journals or works demonstrating a comparable level of scholarship and one scholarly presentation at a meeting of a professional organization. It must be evident that activity in Criterion B and C is consistent and will continue. See

Appendix II, Sec. I, for characteristics of the Associate Professor rank. In the case of those achieving tenure with this promotion, the criteria for tenure must be met, as described in Sec. 2.2 and Appendix II.

#### 4. Promotion from Associate Professor to Professor

Promotion from Associate Professor to Professor normally requires a minimum of five years of experience at the rank of Associate Professor, three of which must be at the University of Louisville. Candidates for promotion to Professor must be evaluated in the areas and by the distribution of effort specified in their approved annual workplans for the period under review. The typical expectation in Criterion B for promotion to Professor is at least three scholarly articles in peer-reviewed journals or works demonstrating a comparable level of scholarship, and at least three scholarly presentations at meetings of professional organizations since attaining the rank of Associate Professor. In Criterion C, the typical expectation is at least one activity for each year since promotion to Associate Professor. It must be evident that activity in Criterion B and C is consistent and will continue. See Appendix II, Sec. I, for characteristics of the Professor rank.

#### 5. Criteria for Promotion in Rank for Part-Time Faculty

- a. It is recognized that the responsibilities of part-time faculty may differ significantly from those with full-time appointments. In a promotion consideration, there should be tangible evidence that a candidate's contributions are significant to the mission of the University Libraries.
- b. Neither seniority nor time in rank is to be the sole basis for promotion. The criteria for promotion of part-time faculty members are the same as those for full-time as described above.

#### **B. Evaluation for Promotion**

- 1. For the purposes of promotion reviews, the University Libraries are a unit without departments or divisions.
- 2. The Personnel Committee will notify faculty members as they become eligible for promotion review.
- 3. The candidate will submit relevant material for review, as described in Appendix II. Promotions from Assistant Professor to Associate Professor, or from Associate Professor to Professor, will require external review. Procedures for external review are outlined in Appendix II.
- 4. The candidate will be shown any material included in the promotion dossier upon request. The candidate may rebut any material in the file within five working days of the deadline for receipt of material by the Personnel Committee.
- 5. After providing access to the candidate's dossier for a period of no less than ten days, the Personnel Committee will hold a meeting of tenured faculty at or above the rank being sought (excluding the Dean). At this meeting, a majority of those eligible to vote must be present, or attend virtually, and these faculty members will cast votes by written secret ballot for or against promotion for each candidate under review. The vote tally will be announced to those present at the meeting. Absentee ballots will not be permitted, however virtual participation in the discussion and voting will be allowed. Any faculty member present may call for discussion of a candidate's dossier.
- 6. The Personnel Committee will tally the votes, record the full vote count for each candidate under review, and incorporate this into their recommendation to the Dean. The Personnel Committee will base its recommendation on the criteria for promotion

- and the documentation listed in Appendix II, and may seek additional information in writing, if necessary.
- 7. The Personnel Committee will communicate its recommendation regarding promotion in writing to the Dean. This recommendation will be included in all higher levels of review.
- 8. The faculty member may add newly available material evidence for reconsideration by the previous evaluators before the file is forwarded to the Executive Vice President and University Provost.
- 9. Based on the file compiled through this process, the Dean will make the unit recommendation. The recommendation of the Dean shall be the unit recommendation forwarded to all higher levels of review. Prior to submitting the unit recommendation to the Executive Vice President and University Provost, the candidate will have the opportunity to review the recommendations and, within five working days, write a rebuttal if desired. The Dean will forward the triptych to the Executive Vice President and University Provost and will notify the Personnel Committee, the supervisor, and the candidate of the unit recommendation. Thereafter *The Redbook* process is followed, Sec. 4.2.2.H.
- 10. If the Executive Vice President and University Provost disagrees with the unit recommendation, the Executive Vice President and University Provost will send a statement of the reasons for his or her recommendation to the faculty member and the Dean, each of whom will have the opportunity to respond in writing prior to any recommendation to the President. The file containing all comments and recommendation will be made available to the President.
- 11. If the recommendation of the Executive Vice President and University Provost is negative, the candidate must be notified by certified mail. The candidate may request a hearing before the University Faculty Grievance Committee within ten working days following receipt of the certified letter.
- 12. The Executive Vice President and University Provost will prepare a recommendation for the President's review, and the President makes the final recommendation to the Board of Trustees.
- 13. In any case where the initial recommendation to deny promotion is by the President, the candidate will be notified of the reason in writing by the President and may appeal to the University Faculty Grievance Committee within ten working days following the President's notice. The report of the University Faculty Grievance Committee will make a recommendation for promotion or denial of promotion to the Board of Trustees. The President and the candidate have ten working days following the report of the University Faculty Grievance Committee to submit their written responses to the report to the Board of Trustees.
- 14. In all cases, the Board of Trustees makes the final decision on promotion.

#### 2.4 PERIODIC CAREER REVIEW

The purpose of Periodic Career Review (PCR) is to promote the continued professional development of the faculty.

- A. Faculty members with tenure shall undergo a career review after every fifth year of service with the following exceptions:
  - 1. A successful promotion review will serve as a career review, and the next review will not take place until five years after the promotion review.
  - 2. When the review period ends in a sabbatical (or other leave) year, the career review shall be deferred until the next academic year.

- 3. Faculty members planning to request promotion to Professor in the next academic year may defer review for one year.
- B. All of *The Redbook* rights of due process and appeal for faculty will apply in these reviews.
- C. Procedures for Periodic Career Review
  - 1. All periodic career reviews for faculty members with tenure shall take place in the spring semester of the academic year.
  - 2. The calendar for PCR is outlined in the *University Libraries Faculty Personnel Committee Manual*. The Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee will notify those faculty members scheduled for review, their supervisors, and the Dean.
  - 3. The Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee will base its evaluation on annual reviews and associated documentation for each of the five years being reviewed. The faculty member may add any appropriate material.
  - 4. The evaluation report will characterize the faculty member's overall contribution as satisfactory: meeting University Libraries criteria, or unsatisfactory: not meeting University Libraries criteria.
- D. If the faculty member has received at least a Satisfactory rating in all annual reviews for the specified review period, the faculty member has met the University Libraries criteria. The Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee will review the file and characterize the member's contribution as satisfactory: meeting University Libraries criteria.
- E. If the faculty member has not received at least a Satisfactory rating in all annual reviews for the specified review period, the Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee will review the material to determine whether the faculty member's performance has met the University Libraries criteria overall meriting a satisfactory rating or is unsatisfactory.
- F. Supplementary salary increases may be awarded per the Minimum Guidelines, Sec. V.
- G. The Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee will forward its recommendations regarding PCR to the Dean. The Dean will issue the final evaluation report to the faculty member and will notify the Executive Vice President and University Provost in writing indicating satisfactory or unsatisfactory results.
  - 1. If the conclusion of the report is that the faculty member's overall contribution has been satisfactory over the review period, the faculty member begins the five-year review cycle in the following year.
  - 2. If the conclusion of the report is that the faculty member's overall contribution has been unsatisfactory, the report will state the deficiency(ies) that was (were) the basis for this conclusion. Within thirty calendar days of receipt of the report, the faculty member, in consultation with the appropriate supervisor and the Dean, will prepare a career development plan to remedy the deficiency(ies) in one year unless the Dean approves a longer period.
    - a. If the faculty member completes the agreed-upon career development plan, the faculty member shall then have one year to demonstrate satisfactory performance. The faculty member will then undergo another periodic review in the following academic year.
    - b. If the faculty member fails to complete the agreed-upon career development plan, the faculty member may ask for an extension of one year, to be granted at the discretion of the Dean. After the extension, the Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee, the Dean, and the supervisor will assess the faculty member's progress in the completion of the professional development plan.
      - If satisfactory, a special career review will be conducted one year later by the Promotion and Tenure Subcommittee in conjunction with the Dean and the supervisor.

ii. If unsatisfactory, the faculty member will be subject to appropriate disciplinary action, which may include proceedings for termination as described in *The Redbook*, Article 4.5.

#### **3 CONDITIONS OF FACULTY EMPLOYMENT**

The conditions of faculty employment in the University Libraries follow *The Redbook*, Article 4.3.

#### **4 RESOLUTION OF DISAGREEMENTS**

Except for those with temporary or emeritus appointments, all ULF members may participate in the procedures described in *The Redbook*, Article 4.4; however, only tenured ULF members may seek election to the University Faculty Grievance Committee.

#### **5 TERMINATION OF SERVICE**

Termination of service of tenured or probationary faculty follows The Redbook, Article 4.5.

#### 6 PROCEDURE FOR AMENDING UNIVERSITY LIBRARIES FACULTY PERSONNEL DOCUMENT

A. Any voting member of the ULF may propose changes to the University Libraries Faculty Personnel Document or any of its appendices. Proposed amendments must be submitted in writing to the Personnel Committee. The Personnel Committee must distribute the proposed amendment to each member of the ULF at least five working days in advance of a faculty meeting.

- B. A written ballot must be distributed at the meeting. In order for the amendment to be approved, at least half of the membership must be present, and the amendment must be approved by at least two-thirds of the members present. If a majority of members is not present or if the majority of the faculty members present so wish, a mail ballot may be used.
- C. Amendments to the *University Libraries Faculty Personnel Document* must also be approved by the Faculty Senate, the Executive Vice President and University Provost, and the Board of Trustees. Amendments to any of the appendices can be made solely with the approval of the ULF.

Approved by University Libraries Faculty: March 21, 1985

Approved by Board of Trustees: May 20, 1985

Approved by University Libraries Faculty: November 15, 1990

Approved by Board of Trustees: March 25, 1991 Amended by University Libraries Faculty: April 18, 1996

Approved by Board of Trustees: May 20, 1996

Amended by University Libraries Faculty: March 26, 1998; January 27, 1999; December 15, 1999; April 20, 2000

Approved by Board of Trustees: February 26, 2001 Amended by University Libraries Faculty: September 2001

Approved by Board of Trustees: April 22, 2002

Approved by University Libraries Faculty: September 23, 2010 Approved by Board of Trustees: November 11, 2010 Approved by University Libraries Faculty: February 20, 2012

Approved by Board of Trustees: June 28, 2012

Approved by University Libraries Faculty: June 14, 2019

Approved by Faculty Senate: June 3, 2020 Approved by Board of Trustees: October 28, 2020

Corrected version approved by Board of Trustees: April 22, 2021

## RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES CONCERNING THE ARTS AND SCIENCES PERSONNEL POLICY AND PROCEDURES DOCUMENT

Academic & Student Affairs Committee – March 18, 2021 Board of Trustees – April 22, 2021

## <u>RECOMMENDATION</u>:

The President recommends that the Board of Trustees approve the revised Arts and Sciences Personnel Policy and Procedures Document, as attached herein.

## BACKGROUND:

A detailed summary of revisions, attached, precedes the revised personnel document. The four changes are listed here:

- **Item 1**: Remove language suggesting that term faculty members cannot accept outside fellowships or research opportunities. (page 3)
- **Item 2**: Establish ranks into which term faculty members without terminal degrees can be promoted. (page 4)
- **Item 3**: Expansion of tenure and promotion voting modalities in light of pandemic/remote work. (page 13)
- **Item 4**: Revision to the tenure & promotion process for faculty members with joint appointments.

The revised document has been approved by the Arts and Sciences Faculty Assembly and the Faculty Senate.

The proposed changes were reviewed by the Provost's office and General Counsel. The Executive Vice President and University Provost joins the President in making this recommendation.

A summary of revisions precedes the revised personnel document.

COMMITTEE ACTION:	BOARD ACTION:
Passed X	PassedX
Did Not Pass	Did Not Pass
Other	Other
(2)	$Q_{2}$
Signature on file	Signature on file
Assistant Secretary	Assistant Secretary

## **A&S Personnel Policy—summary of revisions**

Passed by Faculty Senate, Jan 13, 2021

**Item 1:** Remove language suggesting that term faculty members cannot accept outside fellowships or research opportunities. (page 3)

## Text:

Term faculty shall be full-time faculty appointments without tenure for a stipulated contract period not to exceed three years. Such appointments are not probationary appointments and no such appointments, continuation, or renewal thereof shall result in acquisition of tenure or implied renewal for subsequent terms. Term faculty are not eligible for sabbaticals or other academic leaves.

**Item 2:** Establish ranks into which term faculty members without terminal degrees can be promoted. (page 4)

#### Text:

Promotion in rank may be considered after a term faculty member has served six consecutive years in rank. Procedures for the promotion of term faculty shall be the same as for probationary or tenured faculty (see sections 2.2 and 2.3). Criteria shall include proficiency in teaching, research and creative activity, and service, but only the areas included in the contract or in the Annual Work Plan will be assessed. A term faculty member who does not hold the terminal degree (Instructor) may be promoted to the rank of Senior Instructor I. Candidates who are eligible for further promotion in accordance with the College of Arts and Sciences policies (that is, after six consecutive years in this rank) may be promoted to the rank of Senior Instructor II. These ranks mirror those designated for term faculty members who possess the terminal degree (A] Instructor [Term]: Assistant Professor Term; B] Senior Instructor I: Associate Professor Term; and C] Senior Instructor II: Professor Term), but apply to term faculty members who do not possess the terminal degree or its equivalent.

**Item 3:** Expansion of tenure and promotion voting modalities in light of pandemic/remote work. (page 13)

#### Text:

In tenure and promotion cases, after examination of the evidence, each probationary and tenured faculty member having principal appointment in a department shall have a single vote, and the Chair shall report the vote numerically. A faculty member may have to choose whether to vote as a personnel committee member, administrator, or as a member of the department at large. Ordinarily, department votes shall be by written ballot not marked with name, rank, tenure status, or other identifying information. The ballots shall become a permanent part of the file under review. Departments may agree to gather votes electronically (as in other college elections) as long as the electronic instrument provides for anonymous and recordable voting. The instrument must ensure that only those who are eligible may cast votes and that no one can vote more than once on a given case.

**Item 4:** Revision to the tenure & promotion process for faculty members with joint appointments. These revisions give the secondary department a more substantive role in the review process and differentiate more clearly between joint appointments outlined in letters of offer vs. more informal, ad-hoc arrangements in which a faculty member sometimes teaches or fills service roles in a second department. (pages 13-15)

#### **Text:**

A faculty member whose principal appointment is in one department but who contributes significantly to the teaching, service, or research and creative activity of a second department is entitled to be reviewed for personnel actions with the participation of the second department. "Significant contribution" in teaching is defined as teaching in one academic year one or more courses unique to or cross listed with another department. "Significant contribution" in service and research and creative activity is defined as performance in either category which exceeds 10 percent of an annual work plan commitment. Upon request of the faculty member under review, the faculty member's file will be made available to the chairperson of the second department, and the chairperson of the second department shall write a letter of recommendation based on the reviewee's participation in that department. This letter shall be placed in the triptych prior to the review of the case by the chair of the department of principal appointment.

In addition, one member from the second department will be appointed to the departmental personnel committee in cases when teaching, research and creative activity, and service in the second department exceeds 25 percent of the faculty member's average annual work plan commitment for the period under review. This additional member will be selected by the Dean of the College from a list submitted by the Chair of the second department after the reviewee exercises his or her right to peremptory challenges, the number of which shall not exceed 50 percent of the tenured faculty of the second department. The additional member will serve only in the evaluation and recommendation of the reviewee covered by this provision to the policy.

In cases where the department personnel committee is augmented, the Chair of the second-department shall write a letter of recommendation based on the reviewee's participation in that department. This letter, along with relevant evidence (for example, student evaluations, extramural reviews, etc.), shall be placed in the triptych prior to review of the case by the department Chair.

Joint appointments include 1) official, Board of Trustees (BOT)-approved appointments specified in the original Letter of Offer, and 2) ad-hoc arrangements between two departments (sometimes referred to in individual departments as "affiliate faculty").

## i. BOT-approved joint appointments

If a faculty member has appointments in multiple departments within the College of Arts and Sciences by action of the BOT, each of those units will evaluate his or her tenure or promotion file bearing in mind the percentage of the faculty member's appointment in each department. The department of primary appointment will initiate the review process and oversee the creation of a review file, and the complete dossier of the candidate for tenure and/or promotion will be made available to all departments involved in the review. In each of the departments, a recommendation

will be prepared by the personnel committee, a faculty vote will be conducted, and a chair's report will be prepared. The reviews can take place simultaneously and the reports from all departments will be inserted into the candidate's review file prior to sending it on to the Office of the Dean.

In cases where the secondary appointment is 25% or less, the candidate may elect an alternate procedure in which one member from the secondary department shall be appointed to the personnel committee of the primary department for review of the case. This additional member will be selected by the Dean of the College from a list submitted by the Chair of the second department after the reviewee exercises his or her right to peremptory challenges, the number of which shall not exceed 50 percent of the faculty of the second department. The additional member will serve only in the evaluation and recommendation of the reviewee covered by this provision to the policy. In addition, the Chair of the second department shall write a letter of recommendation based on the reviewee's participation in that department. This letter, along with relevant evidence (for example, student evaluations, extramural reviews, etc.), shall be placed in the personnel file prior to review of the case by the department Chair of the primary department.

In either scenario, once the review file reaches the Office of the Dean, the review will continue as in the case of a faculty member with an appointment in only a single department. If the reviewee has an appointment involving the College of Arts and Sciences and another academic unit within the University, the A&S department involved will conduct its review in accordance with the policy and guidelines for tenure and promotion reviews in the College and, to the extent possible, the College will cooperate with the other University unit involved to facilitate its review.

In all cases, the Chairs of the relevant departments will collaborate on the creation of the Annual Work Plan (AWP) from the time of the initial appointment so that the departmental expectations and the faculty member's responsibilities in each department are transparent and equitable, particularly in the area of Service.

## ii. Ad-hoc interdepartmental arrangements

A faculty member whose principal appointment is in one department but who contributes to the teaching, service, or research and creative activity of a second department on an ad-hoc (non-contractually obligated) basis is entitled, upon the faculty member's request, to be reviewed for personnel actions with the participation of the second department. Upon the faculty member's request, the review file will be made available to the chairperson of the second department, and the chairperson of the second department shall write a letter of recommendation based on the reviewee's participation in that department. This letter shall be placed in the personnel file prior to the review of the case by the chair of the department of principal appointment.

## **Personnel Policy and Procedures**

(Note: Throughout this document, "department" is used as a generic term to include division or program.)

## **Article 1 - Faculty Appointments and Tenure**

## **Section 1.1 - Types of Appointments**

- A. Any full-time faculty appointment shall be one of three kinds:
  - 1. nontenurable (Section 1.2)
  - 2. probationary (Section 1.3)
  - 3. tenure (Section 1.4)
- B. Part-time appointments
  - 1. Part-time faculty shall be those appointed by contract to teach specified courses or perform specific duties less than full time. The Dean may appoint or reappoint part-time faculty for each academic term at the convenience of the University on standard contract terms approved by the Executive Vice President and University Provost. No part-time appointment, continuation, or renewal thereof, regardless of assignment or seniority, shall result in acquisition of tenure or imply renewal for subsequent periods. Part-time faculty shall hold rank according to education and experience. Part-time faculty shall be reviewed in writing annually, and these evaluations will be maintained in the Dean's Office. Part-time faculty are not eligible for sabbaticals or other academic leaves. Part-time faculty may participate in university and unit governance as permitted by University and College Bylaws. Such service shall be accounted for and recognized in the individual contract.

#### 2. Ranks

- a. In normal circumstances, persons appointed at the rank of Lecturer shall hold a graduate degree in the field in which they teach. In extraordinary situations, however, they may instead present evidence of having completed a body of research, scholarship, or other creative activity equivalent in scope and quality to the similar component of such degree. They shall, in any event, give promise of proficiency in teaching, or, if applicable, performing specific duties stipulated in their contract.
- b. In normal circumstances, persons initially appointed at the rank of Senior Lecturer I shall hold the recognized terminal degree in the field in which they teach. Those holding the rank of Lecturer may be promoted to Senior Lecturer I on the basis of a record of proficient teaching, or, if applicable, service and / or research and creative activity in the College.

- c. Promotion to the rank of Senior Lecturer II recognizes exceptional performance in teaching or, if applicable, in service and / or research and creative activity.
- 3. Procedures for Evaluations for Promotion of Part-time Faculty
  - a. Promotion may be considered after a part-time faculty member has held one rank for at least ten semesters in no fewer than five years in the College. (Summer teaching counts as one semester.) A part-time faculty member whose promotion is denied must wait at least four more semesters before requesting promotion again.
  - b. Part-time faculty initiate their promotion reviews by submitting to their department chair a promotion file that includes a curriculum vitae in standard College format, annual College merit evaluations, numerical teaching evaluations, peer reviews of teaching, and syllabi (if developed by the part-time faculty member); and, if applicable, promotion files may also include teaching awards, evidence of course or curriculum development and / or evidence of research and creative activity.
  - c. The promotion file is first reviewed by the department chair and then forwarded to the Dean for review. If the part-time faculty member responds to the chair's written evaluation, the response will also be forwarded to the Dean. The Dean will provide a written review of the evidence in the file. The part-time faculty member may appeal the decanal evaluation and recommendation. All evaluations and responses shall become a permanent part of the part-time faculty member's file.
  - d. The College of Arts and Sciences Personnel Committee will act as the College Committee on Appeals. Any part-time faculty member may request a review by the Arts and Sciences Personnel Committee of the Dean's decision on a promotion case. The result of that review will then be forwarded to the Dean as a recommendation.
  - e. The Dean of the College shall establish such guidelines and deadlines as shall be necessary to ensure uniformity, efficiency, and effectiveness in implementing the review and evaluation process. These guidelines, however, cannot create new policy but are restricted to administration of the current personnel policy. Such guidelines and any subsequent changes must be approved by the College of Arts and Sciences Personnel Committee.

## C. Emeritus faculty

The honorary title of Emeritus faculty may be conferred upon retired faculty if requested by the department or unit faculty and the Dean, and if approved by the President and Board of Trustees. The University community can benefit greatly from Emeritus Faculty presence on campus and continued professional activities, including teaching, research, and service. Therefore, Emeritus Faculty should be provided library and email privileges and support facilities. They may also assist with undergraduate and graduate research projects and they may undertake primary supervision of new student research projects with the approval of the Dean.

## D. Adjunct Faculty

Adjunct appointments are normally offered to persons who are not full-time faculty members of the College or Arts and Sciences but with whom the College or one of its departments wishes to establish a formal relationship. Adjunct faculty members are expected to have the same academic qualifications as member of the regular faculty, and they may hold rank from adjunct instructor to adjunct professor. Persons holding adjunct appointments may be chiefly employed by a school or university other than the University of Louisville, by the University of Louisville in a non-academic position, or by another organization. They are not normally compensated as adjunct faculty but may be compensated by contract for specific part-time services. Adjunct appointments are for terms of up to three years and they may be renewed.

## **Section 1.2 - Nontenurable Full-Time Appointments**

## A. Temporary Appointments

Temporary appointments to the various academic ranks are those made for less than one year or for special purposes. In no case shall temporary appointments or renewals result in the acquisition of tenure. Temporary faculty shall not be eligible for tenure or count toward time for acquisition of tenure, regardless of assignment or seniority. Temporary faculty are not eligible for sabbaticals or other academic leaves but will have access to the same grievance procedure as other full-time faculty. (See Redbook Appendix A)

## B. Term Faculty Appointments

- 1. All nontenurable full-time faculty who do not hold temporary appointments will be called Term Faculty.
- 2. Term faculty shall be full-time faculty appointments without tenure for a stipulated contract period not to exceed three years. Such appointments are not probationary appointments and no such appointments, continuation, or renewal thereof shall result in acquisition of tenure or implied renewal for subsequent terms. Term faculty are not eligible for sabbaticals.
- 3. Term faculty may be funded through general funds, restricted funds, or clinical revenues. The number of term faculty appointments funded through general funds must be fewer than 20 percent of the total number of probationary and tenured appointments in the College.
- 4. Term faculty appointments may be renewed at the pleasure of the University if the Chair of the department and the Dean determine that the services of the incumbent are needed for the renewal term.

- 5. Faculty on term appointments may apply for and be appointed to probationary appointments.
- 6. Term faculty shall meet the minimal standards for probationary appointment at the designated rank, although specific variation in assignments may be designated in the contract and specified in the Annual Work Plan.
- 7. Participation in College Governance shall be specified in the College By-Laws.
- 8. Working with the department Chair, term faculty shall present an Annual Work Plan for the approval of the Dean. The work plan shall specify the responsibilities of the faculty member for teaching, research and creative activity, service, and other institutional obligations for the faculty member's presence on campus.
- 9. Annual review of term faculty shall be initiated by the designated departmental review committee and shall follow the process for annual review of probationary or tenured faculty. Assessment for annual review shall include teaching, research and creative activity, and service, but review shall consider only those areas assigned in the Annual Work Plan.
- 10. Term faculty whose annual reviews attest to their proficiency shall receive a salary increase as outlined in the Dean's Guidelines.
- 11. Promotion in rank may be considered after a term faculty member has served six consecutive years in rank. Procedures for the promotion of term faculty shall be the same as for probationary or tenured faculty (see sections 2.2 and 2.3). Criteria shall include proficiency in teaching, research and creative activity, and service, but only the areas included in the contract or in the Annual Work Plan will be assessed. A term faculty member who does not hold the terminal degree (Instructor) may be promoted to the rank of Senior Instructor I. Candidates who are eligible for further promotion in accordance with the College of Arts and Sciences policies (that is, after six consecutive years in this rank) may be promoted to the rank of Senior Instructor II. These ranks mirror those designated for term faculty members who possess the terminal degree (A] Instructor [Term]: Assistant Professor Term; B] Senior Instructor I: Associate Professor Term; and C] Senior Instructor II: Professor Term) but apply to term faculty members who do not possess the terminal degree or its equivalent.
- 12. Extramural review shall be required for promotion for those term faculty whose annual work plans include research and creative activity.
- 13. Term faculty will have access to the same grievance procedure as other full-time faculty. (See Redbook 4.4 Appendix A.)

## **Section 1.3 - Probationary Appointments**

## A. Definition

Probationary appointments shall be appointments of full-time faculty members without tenure other than those described in Section 1.2, provided, however, that no probationary appointment to the College shall extend beyond the period when tenure is normally granted (Section 2.2).

#### B. Instructors

Probationary appointments to the rank of instructor shall be made only under extraordinary circumstances. If such appointments are made, they will be for stipulated terms of one year each and the persons appointed as instructors shall have completed all work required for the award of the required terminal degree in their area of specialization, with the exception of the thesis or dissertation. They shall, in any event, give promise of proficiency in teaching, research and creative activity, and service.

## C. Assistant and Associate Professors

Probationary appointments to the rank of assistant or associate professor shall be for stipulated terms not to exceed two years for the initial appointment, nor three years for appointments made thereafter.

In normal circumstances, persons appointed as assistant professors shall hold the recognized terminal degree in their field of specialization. In extraordinary situations, however, they may instead present evidence of having completed a body of research, scholarship, or other creative activity equivalent in scope and quality to the similar component of such degree. They shall, in any event, give promise of proficiency in teaching, research and creative activity, and service.

In normal circumstances, persons appointed or promoted to the rank of associate professor shall hold the recognized terminal degree in their field of specialization. In extraordinary situations, however, they may instead present evidence of having completed a body of research, scholarship, or other creative activity equivalent in scope and quality to the similar component of such degree. They shall have shown evidence of having attained proficiency in teaching, research and creative activity, and service, and shall give promise of continuing performance at proficient levels in these areas. The evidence of both proficiency and continuing promise of proficiency in research and creative activity shall include extramural evaluation.

#### D. Professors

Professors shall be awarded tenure if employed subsequent to the initial probationary period. In normal circumstances, persons appointed or promoted to the rank of professor shall hold the recognized terminal degree in their field of specialization. In extraordinary situations, however, they may instead present evidence of having completed a body of research, scholarship, or other creative activity equivalent in scope and quality to the similar component of such degree. They shall show evidence of having attained proficiency in

teaching, research and creative activity, and service and of superior achievement and recognition in at least one area and shall give promise of continuing performance at or above such levels. Evaluation of scholarship shall include extramural evaluation.

## **Section 1.4 - Tenure Appointments**

#### A. Definition

Tenure is the right of certain full-time faculty personnel who hold academic rank to continuous full-time employment without reduction in academic rank until retirement or dismissal as provided in The Redbook. Tenure is granted in an academic unit in accordance with the procedures established in The Redbook.

#### B. Tenure Recommendations

Recommendations concerning the award or denial of tenure shall originate in the faculty of the College. In normal circumstances, tenure shall be recommended for persons promoted to the rank of associate professor or professor who already hold academic appointment in the College of Arts and Sciences. Tenure may be recommended for persons whose initial appointment in the College is at the rank of associate professor or professor. Persons recommended for tenure shall hold the recognized terminal degree in their field of specialization or shall present evidence of having completed a body of research, scholarship, or other creative activity equivalent in scope and quality to the similar component of such degree. Persons recommended for initial appointment as associate professor or professor shall meet the criteria stipulated for promotion to those ranks. Waivers or accords about credit toward tenure shall be stipulated in the letter of offer.

## C. Establishment of Tenure Date

For probationary appointments, the date of mandatory tenure and the number of years of previous full-time service to be counted toward acquisition of tenure shall be stipulated by the Executive Vice President and University Provost and agreed to in writing by the nominee before the appointment is made by the Board of Trustees.

## **Article 2 - Faculty Personnel Reviews**

Personnel reviews shall be based upon peer evaluation of a documentary record that includes qualitative and quantitative evidence of performance. Proficiency in the areas of teaching, research and creative activity, and service shall normally be required of all faculty members, unless responsibility for some area or areas is excepted in this document or specified in writing at the time of the initial appointment.

## **Section 2.1 - Annual Reviews**

## A. Areas of Activity

The personnel reviews of the College shall consider evidence in the areas of teaching, research and creative activity, and service. The reviews will reward performance in the short term and seek to reinforce desirable patterns of career advancement and to foster the development of excellence in the College of Arts and Sciences. Performance evaluations shall be based on merit, including contributions to the missions of the department, the College, and the University. Evaluations must consider those areas of activity for which the approved annual work plan indicates a faculty member's responsibility, and no faculty member may be penalized for non-performance in any area of activity for which the faculty member has no assigned responsibility. Faculty members may be rewarded for activities that are not represented on the Annual Work Plan.

## B. Procedures

- 1. Every faculty member and instructor of record shall be reviewed annually.
- 2. The following policies apply to the review of full-time faculty.
  - a. The annual reviews shall become part of the record for all subsequent personnel reviews and the basis for salary increases. Annual reviews shall take into consideration achievement for the year under review and the two years preceding it. The reviews will be preserved in the Dean's Office and the individual faculty members will be responsible for maintaining the documentation supporting each annual review for all future reviews.
  - b. Each faculty member shall be given an opportunity to present documentation of performance and effort relative to the annual work plan during the review period. Probationary and tenured faculty are entitled, upon their request, to extramural review in annual review. The Dean's Office shall announce in its Annual Calendar of Deadlines the date by which such documentation must be received.
  - c. Annual review may take into account career patterns of accomplishments as reflected in the curriculum vitae and in any submitted statement of progress.
  - d. Each faculty member must submit to the department personnel committee a curriculum vitae, Annual Work Plans, and information relevant to quality of instruction for the review period, including copies of results of student evaluations for all courses taught at the University of Louisville during the review period. The department personnel committee shall submit a performance evaluation of each faculty member to the Chair, who shall submit a subsequent performance evaluation to the Dean. The Dean's performance evaluation is final, subject to appeal under 2.1.C.5.

- 3. Each part-time faculty member must provide materials to a designated department administrator who will submit a performance evaluation to the Dean. Copies of results of student evaluations for all courses taught at the University of Louisville during the review period must be submitted, along with other materials to be determined by the department. Each part-time faculty member will be provided the performance evaluation in writing and shall be given the opportunity to respond to the evaluation and to any recommendations for improvement. The reviews will be preserved in the Dean's Office.
- 4. Annual review of Graduate Teaching Assistants is the responsibility of the graduate program in which they are enrolled. Copies of results of student evaluations for all courses taught at the University of Louisville during the review period must be reviewed, along with other materials to be determined by the graduate program.
- 5. Each faculty member will be informed of the performance evaluation in writing at each step of the process and shall be given the opportunity to respond to the evaluation and to any recommendations for improvement or for salary increases so that timely adjustments may be made before the Dean's final recommendation.
- 6. Faculty who have administrative appointments shall be reviewed for their administrative services as well as for their other faculty responsibilities. Such reviews will be initiated by the department and will involve consultation with appropriate faculty and administrators. Each department shall develop specific policies for the evaluation of Chairs. These must include gathering specific assessments of the Chair's performance from individuals such as the Dean. The department Chair, together with the department personnel committee, will be responsible for identifying such individuals. The form of such reviews shall be established within the Dean's Guidelines. These evaluations must be incorporated into the annual review of that individual.
- 7. In cases where a faculty member has a joint appointment, the annual review will be conducted in accordance with procedures established in the Dean's Guidelines.
- 8. A minimum of three tenured faculty members will serve as the department personnel committee. No person may participate during deliberation of his or her own case. If it is impossible to form a qualified committee of three faculty members in a given department, that committee will be augmented. The chair of the personnel committee shall submit to the Dean a list of proposed members from the College and the Dean will make the selection. The reviewee has the right of peremptory challenge up to the number of three before such list is submitted to the Dean.
- 9. Department committees, Chairs or the Dean may request to see evidence of performance at any stage of the review process.

## C. Distribution of Funds

1. Two percent (2 percent) of the annual-review money allocated to the College will be used to accommodate successful appeals. Any funds remaining from this 2 percent will be distributed to the departments as outlined in C.2.

2. The Dean will distribute the remaining annual-review money allocated to the College for full-time faculty as a uniform percentage of the year's base full-time faculty salary for each department, unless some alteration in that uniform percentage is warranted by changes in the department's relative level of performance. Any changes shall be made in consultation with the Personnel Committee and the Planning and Budget Committee.

The Dean shall report to the faculty and to the Executive Vice President and University Provost the frequency distribution of the percentage salary increases received by all faculty members and describe the evaluation procedure used to determine these increases. Recommendations for awards will be based on a system that defines overall performance as (1) not proficient, (2) proficient, (3) highly proficient, and (4) exceptional.

After distribution of annual-review funds to departments (as determined in C.2.), awards to individuals will be made according to the approved department policy. No department policy shall be implemented until approved by the College Personnel Committee and the Dean.

- 3. Each department shall recommend the reward associated with each category of performance in accordance with the system developed by that department. No reward shall be given for an overall performance of "not proficient." No department shall recommend annual awards that total more than the funds allocated to it under C.2.
- 4. A recommendation by the Dean for no salary increase must be submitted to the Executive Vice President and University Provost for approval, and must include reasons that performance is considered unsatisfactory, as well as specific suggestions for improving performance. In the case of appeals of recommendation for no salary increase, the entire review file shall also be forwarded to the Executive Vice President and University Provost.
- 5. The College Personnel Committee will act as the College Committee on Appeals. Any faculty member may request a review by the Personnel Committee of the Dean's decision on an annual review. The result of that review will then be forwarded to the Dean as a recommendation.
- 6. Each year, when funds are received by the College for pay raises for part-time faculty, these funds must be used for that purpose. The Dean may also designate funds under his or her discretion for that purpose.

#### Section 2.2 - Tenure

A. Time Required

See Redbook 4.2.2.A.

B. Leaves of Absence

See Redbook 4.2.2.B.

## C. Extension of Probationary Period

See Redbook 4.2.2.C.

## D. Prior Service

See Redbook 4.2.2.D.

## E. Early Tenure

See Redbook 4.2.2.E.

#### F. Criteria for tenure

## 1. Areas of Activity

Evidence of broad-based, proficient performance in teaching, research and creative activity, and service shall be required to sustain recommendations for tenure.

All evaluations of personnel shall take into consideration a faculty member's annual work plans during the period of review. Whenever used in this document, the word "proficient" shall be understood to mean "having satisfied capably all the special demands or requirements of a particular situation, craft, or profession."

## 2. Teaching

Proficient teaching stimulates active learning and encourages students to be critical, creative thinkers. It is carefully planned and continuously examined. Regardless of its setting, proficient teaching uses faculty expertise to deepen the way students understand the subject matter. Student evaluations must be complemented by a recent peer review of teaching effectiveness and other relevant evidence. Examples of such evidence may include, but are not limited to, teaching awards, course syllabi and other instructional materials, and evidence of mentoring students.

## 3. Research and Creative Activity

Research and creative activity is the process of expanding scholarly or creative work in one's discipline. Proficient research and creative activity is innovative; it illuminates present experience and knowledge. Evidence of proficiency in research and creative activity includes articles, books, exhibitions, grants, performances, presentations at conferences, and reports. In cases where the AWPs require particular forms of activity, evidence of proficiency in such particular activities must be presented.

#### 4. Service

Service includes those tasks that are required for the functioning of the department, college, university, community, or profession. Community work that does not draw upon one's professional expertise is not included. Evidence of proficiency in service includes letters of recognition, performance evaluations, and other documentation.

## G. Pretenure review

Pretenure review is a procedure whose purpose is to determine whether or not a faculty member is making satisfactory progress toward achieving tenure. A positive pretenure review is not a promise of an eventual tenure grant.

A pretenure review will take place at the mid-point of a faculty member's probationary period. No later than August 1 of the academic year in which the review is to take place, the department Chair shall inform the faculty member, in writing, that the review is to take place. All such correspondence shall become a part of the faculty member's file. In the event that an individual's career pattern does not fit the normal progression (e.g., the case of an individual coming to the University with three or more years of credit toward tenure) that case shall be treated on its own merits, determining whether or not the hiring process constituted a pretenure review. Pretenure review shall be conducted by the department personnel committee, Chair, college personnel committee, and Dean.

The standard for a positive pretenure review shall be a determination that continuation of activity, as documented in the file, is expected to fulfill the stated tenure criteria for the department(s) involved. In the event that the department evaluation is negative, the written evaluation must include recommendations to the faculty member for changing the situation documented in the course of the review.

Pretenure review shall involve an examination of activity in the areas outlined in Section 2.2.F. Standards of judgment for the areas of activity shall be the same as those outlined in Section 2.2.F, and in department statements of criteria for tenure. For the purpose of pretenure review, extramural review is optional. This option may be exercised by either the faculty member or the department personnel committee.

The record compiled for pretenure review shall be maintained intact as part of the evidence to be considered in tenure review.

## H. Evaluation for tenure

- 1. Each faculty member eligible for tenure must be evaluated within twelve months after five years of service applied to tenure. Completion of the probationary period with positive annual performance evaluations and pretenure review shall not in and of itself constitute sufficient grounds for tenure.
- 2. Faculty members on probationary status shall be affected by any amendments to or changes in the criteria for tenure subsequent to their appointment. In such evaluations,

- appropriate consideration will be given to the amount of time remaining in their probationary period when the change becomes effective.
- 3. If the recommendation of the Executive Vice President and University Provost, the Dean, or the Chair of the department is negative, the faculty member must be notified by certified mail. The faculty member may request a hearing before the University Faculty Grievance Committee. Any such request must be delivered on or before the tenth working day following notification by certified mail.

## I. Procedures for Reviews and Evaluations for Tenure and Promotion

- 1. Before any formal consideration or recommendation goes forward there must be consultation with the reviewee and with all bodies charged with the formal conduct of the review to that point.
- 2. Faculty members have the right to initiate their own reviews, except as that right is restricted by the Redbook.
- 3. When a Chair of a department is under review for tenure or promotion the relevant committee will include among its members one member of the faculty within the College but external to the home department of the person under review. The Dean shall appoint that member of the committee.
- 4. Chairs initiate reviews for promotion and tenure by letter of notice to relevant committees, the Dean, and the Arts and Sciences Personnel Committee. At every stage of the review the candidate will have the opportunity to review all materials in the record, except for the identities of extramural reviewers.
- 5. All evidence entered in review must be submitted to the Dean with the Chair's recommendation. It is essential that the report of the department personnel committee, including the department vote and any minority report, accompany the Chair's recommendation. Once initiated, a promotion review or review for early tenure may not be stopped, except with the permission of the reviewee. A promotion or tenure review file must be compiled with the assistance of the faculty member, and the faculty member is allowed to add newly available evidence for reconsideration by the previous evaluators before the file is advanced to the Office of the Executive Vice President and University Provost. The file shall be closed, and no further evidence may be added to it after the file has reached the Office of the Executive Vice President and University Provost.
- 6. Evaluation of research and creative activity requires extramural review. The Dean shall solicit extramural referees chosen from a list of professionally expert and objective evaluators compiled and agreed upon by the reviewee and the reviewee's Chair.
- 7. Letters soliciting extramural reviews shall follow models drafted by the College personnel committee.

- 8. At each level of review there must be a letter of recommendation which includes a written evaluation of all evidence regarding teaching, research and creative activity, and service. At each level the reviewee has the right to respond to the evaluation. All such responses shall become a permanent part of the file under review.
- 9. In tenure and promotion cases, after examination of the evidence, each probationary and tenured faculty member having principal appointment in a department shall have a single vote, and the Chair shall report the vote numerically. A faculty member may have to choose whether to vote as a personnel committee member, administrator, or as a member of the department at large. Ordinarily, department votes shall be by written ballot not marked with name, rank, tenure status, or other identifying information. The ballots shall become a permanent part of the file under review. Departments may agree to gather votes electronically (as in other college elections) as long as the electronic instrument provides for anonymous and recordable voting. The instrument must ensure that only those who are eligible may cast votes and that no one can vote more than once on a given case.
- 10. A minimum of three tenured faculty members will serve as the department personnel committee to review every personnel action for tenure or promotion. Any person scheduled for review for promotion or tenure may not serve on the department personnel committee during the academic year in which the review takes place. If it is impossible to form a qualified committee of three faculty members from a department, that committee will be augmented. The chair of the department personnel committee will submit to the Dean a list of proposed members from the College and the Dean will make the selection. The reviewee has the right of peremptory challenge up to the number of six before the list is submitted to the Dean.
- 11. Joint appointments include 1) official, Board of Trustees (BOT)-approved appointments specified in the original Letter of Offer, and 2) ad-hoc arrangements between two departments (sometimes referred to in individual departments as "affiliate faculty").
  - i. BOT-approved joint appointments

If a faculty member has appointments in multiple departments within the College of Arts and Sciences by action of the BOT, each of those units will evaluate his or her tenure or promotion file bearing in mind the percentage of the faculty member's appointment in each department. The department of primary appointment will initiate the review process and oversee the creation of a review file, and the complete dossier of the candidate for tenure and/or promotion will be made available to all departments involved in the review. In each of the departments, a recommendation will be prepared by the personnel committee, a faculty vote will be conducted, and a chair's report will be prepared. The reviews can take place simultaneously and the reports from all departments will be inserted into the candidate's review file prior to sending it on to the Office of the Dean.

In cases where the secondary appointment is 25% or less, the candidate may elect an alternate procedure in which one member from the secondary department shall be appointed to the personnel committee of the primary department for review of the case. This additional member will be selected by the Dean of the College from a list submitted by the Chair of the second department after the reviewee exercises his or her right to

peremptory challenges, the number of which shall not exceed 50 percent of the faculty of the second department. The additional member will serve only in the evaluation and recommendation of the reviewee covered by this provision to the policy. In addition, the Chair of the second department shall write a letter of recommendation based on the reviewee's participation in that department. This letter, along with relevant evidence (for example, student evaluations, extramural reviews, etc.), shall be placed in the personnel file prior to review of the case by the department Chair of the primary department.

In either scenario, once the review file reaches the Office of the Dean, the review will continue as in the case of a faculty member with an appointment in only a single department. If the reviewee has an appointment involving the College of Arts and Sciences and another academic unit within the University, the A&S department involved will conduct its review in accordance with the policy and guidelines for tenure and promotion reviews in the College and, to the extent possible, the College will cooperate with the other University unit involved to facilitate its review.

In all cases, the Chairs of the relevant departments will collaborate on the creation of the Annual Work Plan (AWP) from the time of the initial appointment so that the departmental expectations and the faculty member's responsibilities in each department are transparent and equitable, particularly in the area of Service.

#### ii. Ad-hoc interdepartmental arrangements

A faculty member whose principal appointment is in one department but who contributes to the teaching, service, or research and creative activity of a second department on an ad-hoc (non-contractually obligated) basis is entitled, upon the faculty member's request, to be reviewed for personnel actions with the participation of the second department. Upon the faculty member's request, the review file will be made available to the chairperson of the second department, and the chairperson of the second department shall write a letter of recommendation based on the reviewee's participation in that department. This letter shall be placed in the personnel file prior to the review of the case by the chair of the department of principal appointment.

12. The Dean of the College shall establish such guidelines and deadlines as shall be necessary to ensure uniformity, efficiency, and effectiveness in implementing the review and evaluation process. These guidelines, however, cannot create new policy but are restricted to administration of the current personnel policy. Such guidelines and any subsequent changes must be approved by the College personnel committee.

## **Section 2.3 - Promotion in Rank**

#### A. Criteria for Promotion from Associate Professor to Professor

1. The candidate for promotion shall present evidence of having attained proficiency in teaching, research and creative activity, and service, and of superior achievement and recognition in at least one area and shall give promise of continuing performance at or above such levels.

- 2. All evaluations for promotion in rank shall take into consideration a faculty member's annual work plans during the period of review. Evaluation of research and creative activity shall include extramural evaluation.
- 3. Whenever used in this document, the word "proficient" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.2.F.
- 4. Whenever used in this document, "superior achievement and recognition" shall be understood to mean "having attained distinction, as recognized by one's peers, in a particular situation, craft, or profession."

#### B. Procedures for Reviews and Evaluations for Promotion in Rank

1. Each faculty member shall be reviewed for promotion in rank according to procedures specified in Section 2.2.I.

#### **Section 2.4 - Periodic Career Review**

The College assumes that faculty will ordinarily discharge their professional responsibilities by proficient performance in the areas of teaching, research and creative activity, and service and in accordance with their annual work plan (AWP). The periodic career review process examines evidence and reviews compiled over a five-year cycle.

## A. Faculty with Tenure

Tenured faculty members shall undergo career review after every fifth year of service. When the review period ends in a sabbatical (or other leave), the periodic career review shall be deferred until the next academic year. A promotion shall replace a periodic career review.

Within thirty days of a periodic career review that identifies areas of deficiency, a faculty member, in consultation with the Chair or the Dean, shall prepare a career development plan, acceptable to the Dean, to remedy deficiencies within one year unless the Dean approves a longer period.

## B. Periodic Career Review: Stage 1

- 1. Each department personnel document will include a statement of expectations for "proficient performance" by tenured faculty. This statement will form the basis for periodic career reviews. Statements will be reviewed by the Dean to insure consistency with the mission of the College. After approval, each department will submit the statement to the Arts and Sciences Personnel Committee.
- 2. Annual reviews, the documentation supporting them, and a current curriculum vitae will be used as the evidentiary basis for periodic career reviews. The department Chair will review the five prior annual reviews. If a faculty member has four or five satisfactory reviews, the department Chair will forward a positive recommendation to the Dean of the College.

3. If a faculty member has more than one unsatisfactory review during the five-year period, the Chair will inform the department personnel committee so that the Chair and the department personnel committee can identify problems. If the department personnel committee and Chair do not think that mitigating circumstances account for the deficiencies, they will recommend a Stage 2 review. The recommendations of the department personnel committee and Chair will be forwarded along with the summary of the review period to the College Personnel Committee. The documentation supporting the recommendation, for instance, annual review letters and the evidentiary base from which they were written, will be made available to the College Personnel Committee if requested. The College Personnel Committee will review materials and other requested documentation and forward their recommendation to the Dean.

## C. Periodic Career Review: Stage 2

- 1. Stage 2 review will focus on tenured faculty who were selected for review during Stage 1. In general, the purpose of this review is to provide useful feedback and appropriate intervention and assistance to faculty members who have not met expected performance criteria.
- 2. The department Chair will inform those subject to Stage 2 review. The faculty member will compile a triptych containing detailed information pertinent to the review. This information will in all cases include: (1) an up-to-date curriculum vitae, (2) annual reviews and annual work agreements for the past five years; (3) Stage 1 documentation and recommendations. Other evidence may also be included by the faculty member or may be requested by any of the reviewing bodies. If requested by the faculty member or the department Chair, any materials may be sent out for extramural review, following all procedures in the Arts and Sciences Personnel Policy and the Dean's Guidelines.
- 3. The department personnel committee will review all documentation and reviews and make a recommendation to the department Chair. The department review must reflect the nature of the individual's field of work and must conform to fair and reasonable standards for performance. Also, in all cases, the College Personnel Committee should be provided with copies of department expectations for proficient performance.
- 4. The department review should identify strengths and weaknesses of the faculty member and define specific goals or outcomes that would help the faculty member improve. The faculty member then can review and rebut this recommendation. All documentation is then forwarded to the Chair. The Chair will respond in writing to the documentation provided by the department committee, and with the faculty member develop a specific plan to overcome deficiencies. This plan will specify expected outcomes and outline the activities that will be taken to correct deficiencies.
- 5. All documentation will be forwarded to the Arts and Sciences Personnel Committee for review, and its recommendation that the plan be accepted, modified, or rejected will be sent to the Dean. The Dean will make the final decision regarding the plan. The evaluation process, including the approval of the plan by the Dean, shall be completed in thirty calendar days following identification of the deficiency.

- 6. The faculty member will be given one year to satisfy the requirements of the plan, unless the Dean approves a longer period. If the faculty member completes the professional development plan, the faculty member shall then have one year to demonstrate satisfactory performance. The Dean shall institute another career review. A faculty member whose performance is judged unsatisfactory in this second review shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary action, which may include proceedings for termination.
- 7. A faculty member can appeal this process, following all procedures outlined in The Redbook, Arts and Sciences Personnel Policy, and the Dean's Guidelines.

## **Article 3 - Conditions of Faculty Employment**

## Section 3.1 - Annual Work Plan and Presence at the University

A. Before the opening of each academic year, each full-time faculty member of the College shall sign an Annual Work Plan which describes the distribution of effort planned for the academic year. This policy also applies to faculty on sabbatical leave. Annual Work Plans shall be initiated by the department where the faculty member holds primary appointment. In the case of joint appointments, the respective department Chairs will cooperate in the process. These agreements shall be negotiated between the faculty member and the department Chair(s). The agreements shall be subject to review and approval by the Dean. Disagreements between a faculty member and the Chair as to the proper allocation of effort shall be referred to the Dean for resolution. When circumstances require changes in the work plan, the faculty member and Chair shall file an amended plan, including an explanation of the changes, for the Dean's approval.

The Annual Work Plan provides the basis for evaluation of performance.

Annual Work Plans must be consistent with the missions and program needs of the College and the home department(s). Each full-time faculty member must account for 100 percent of his or her full workload. Normally, the allocation of effort is based on some combination of teaching, research and creative activity, and service. Justification for allocations of effort shall include the listing of courses taught, committee assignments and professional projects. The distribution of effort shall be expressed on the Annual Work Plan in terms of percent of effort allocated to each activity. Normally, a three-credit hour course requires at least ten percent of annual effort' this standard shall be the basis for the allocation of effort for all activities. Probationary faculty are required to demonstrate broad proficiency in scholarship; thus, a minimum allocation of thirty percent is required in research and creative activity. All approved annual work plans shall respect both the individual faculty member's need to shape his or her own career and the College's various needs, and shall accordingly permit the faculty member to perform various functions at different stages of his or her career.

Service, especially service on campus, is the duty of every faculty member. Participation in department meetings and college assemblies is assumed. Under normal circumstances, faculty are also expected to serve on department, college, and university committees.

## B. Presence at the University

Although professional activities will require their absence from campus, College faculty are expected to be routinely available on campus to meet with their colleagues and their students. Faculty shall make themselves available to students by observing posted office hours, and by allowing students to arrange appointments at other mutually convenient times (See Code of Faculty Responsibilities, 2.25). The Dean may require college faculty to report two weeks before Fall classes begin and continue in actual attendance until two weeks after the end of the final examination period in the Spring except when an approved AWP provides otherwise.

## **Section 3.2 - Compensation**

The standard faculty appointment is for ten months, hereinafter called the Academic Year. Faculty on ten-month appointments have the option of receiving their salaries in ten (10) equal installments (B-10: August through May), or twelve (12) equal installments (B12: July through June), each fiscal year. The standard administrative appointment is for twelve months (A12).

## **Section 3.3 - Work Outside the University**

See Redbook Article 4.3.3.

## **Section 3.4 - Paid Tutoring**

No one shall receive any compensation for tutoring students in a course in which that person is empowered to grant the student credit or over which he or she may exercise authority.

## Section 3.5 - Sabbatical Leave

Sabbatical leaves will be subject to the provisions of the Redbook.

## **Article 4 - Resolution of Disagreements**

See Redbook Article 4.4.

## **Article 5 - Termination of Service**

See Redbook Article 4.5.

## **Article 6 - Personnel Documents**

Criteria in department personnel policy statements shall be consistent with the College personnel policy. Departments that wish to specify additional requirements must receive approval from the College Personnel Committee and the Dean.

Approved by Board of Trustees: November 13, 2008

Approved by Arts and Sciences Faculty Assembly: October 24, 2014

Approved by Faculty Senate: September 2, 2015 Approved by Board of Trustees: January 14, 2016

Approved by Arts and Sciences Faculty Assembly: November 20, 2020

Approved by Faculty Senate: January 13, 2021 Approved by Board of Trustees: April 22, 2021

# RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES REGARDING PERSONNEL MATTERS

Academic and Student Affairs Committee – March 18, 2021 Board of Trustees – April 22, 2021

The President recommends that the following personnel recommendations be approved by the Board of Trustees.

## **Engineering:**

Pratik Parikh, PhD, Professor (Tenured) and Department Chair of Industrial Engineering; additional appointment as Mary Lee and George Duthie Chair, May 1, 2021 through April 30, 2024.

**Education**: PhD, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University

## **Notable Accomplishments:**

Dr. Parikh has extensive funded research experience in the field of hospital trauma systems and evaluation of alternative configurations as well as trauma care network design. Funding source is the National Science Foundation.

## **Selection Process:**

Additional appointment with no additional pay was initiated and approved by the Dean.

## **Salary Data:**

Current base salary: \$165,000 Supplement: \$17,556 Total compensation: \$182,556

Proposed salary: \$165,000 Proposed supplement: \$17,556 Proposed total: \$182,556

Budget impact: none

Median benchmark comparison: \$177,147 Benchmark position title: Professor

Benchmark source: ASEE Salary Survey, American Society for Engineering Education

Year of benchmark data: 2020

Benchmark data number of incumbents: 275 Benchmark data number of institutions: 46

## **Medicine**:

Rosemary Ouseph, MD, Professor (Term) of Medicine and Division Chief of Nephrology and Hypertension; appointment as Professor (Tenured) of Medicine, April 23, 2021.

**Education:** MD, University of Louisville

## **Notable Accomplishments**:

After obtaining her medical degree in 1988, Dr. Ouseph completed a Residency in Internal Medicine in 1991, a Clinical Fellowship in Nephrology in 1992, and a Research Fellowship in Nephrology in 1994. Dr. Ouseph received a Master of Science in Public Health from the University of Louisville in 2003. Dr. Ouseph joined the faculty at the University of Louisville as an Assistant Professor of Medicine, Division of Nephrology in 1994. She was promoted to Associate Professor in 2000 and awarded tenure in 2001, after which she was promoted to Professor in 2008. Dr. Ouseph served as the Director of the Metabolic Bone Center from 1998-2001, and Director of the Clinical Transplantation, Kidney Disease Program and Director of the Outpatient Nephrology Office from 2009 to her departure from the University in 2015. Since her departure from Louisville, she has worked as a Tenured Professor of Medicine and Medical Director of the Kidney and Pancreas Program at Saint Louis University.

## **Selection Process**:

Selected by Division Chief and Department Chair.

#### **Salary Data:**

Incumbent base salary: \$ 45,057.00 Incumbent supplement: \$ 45,685.00 Incumbent supplement: \$ 80,000.00

Incumbent supplement: \$ 13,848.33 (ULP Annual Salary)

Incumbent total: \$184,590.33

Proposed base salary: \$ 66,500.00 Proposed supplement: \$ 33,500.00

Proposed supplement: \$275,000.00 (ULP Annual Salary)

Proposed total: \$375,000.00

Budget impact: Since this position has been vacant, and not part of the budget, this will be an increase to the

budget. A salary higher than the median benchmark was agreed upon to recruit higher quality faculty.

Median benchmark comparison\*: \$351,000.00

Benchmark position title: Professor, Nephrology-Med. (Chief)

Benchmark source: AAMC
Year of benchmark data: 2018-2019
Benchmark data number of incumbents: 39
Benchmark data number of institutions: N/A

## **Medicine**:

Teresa Pitts, PhD, Associate Professor (Tenured) of Neurological Surgery; additional appointment as Endowed Chair 1 in Neurological Surgery, April 23, 2021 through April 22, 2024.

**Education**: PhD, University of Florida

## **Notable Accomplishments**:

Dr. Pitts began working at UofL in January 2015, and in January 2021, was promoted to Associate Professor and awarded tenure in the Department of Neurological Surgery. In the last 5 years she has published 24 original research publications, 12 as first or last author. Dr. Pitts currently holds an R01 grant as a Principal Investigator (PI). As a leader she holds the roles of Director of Research and the CMDS 600 Research Methods course developer and Director. This past year she was awarded the prestigious Giles F. Filley Memorial Award for Excellence in Respiratory Physiology and Medicine.

## **Selection Process:**

The agreement that Dr. Scott Whittemore had with then Dean Edward Halperin when Dr. Pitts was recruited was that the endowed chair funds would initially be used to support Dr. Pitts' laboratory and if she was awarded promotion and tenure and had an exemplary academic record, she would be nominated to the named chair.

## **Salary Data:**

Current base salary: \$122,308

Total compensation: \$122,308 (from multiple grants and endowments)

Proposed base salary: \$89,695 Proposed supplement: \$44,485

Proposed total: \$134,180 (from multiple grants and endowments)

Budget impact: \$11,872

Median benchmark comparison: \$127,000

Benchmark position title: Associate Professor Benchmark source: AAMC Table 25

Year of benchmark data: 2018-19 Benchmark data number of incumbents: 55 Benchmark data number of institutions: 151

## **Administration**

Daniel Durbin, MPA, West Virginia University, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer; change of appointment to Executive Vice President for Finance and Administration, April 1, 2021. Appointment as Executive Vice President for Finance and Administration is at the pleasure of the Board of Trustees.

**Education:** MPA (2010) West Virginia University

## **Prior Employment:**

2018 – Present:	Vice President & Chief Financial Officer, University of Louisville
2017 - 2018:	Associate Vice President of Health Affairs, University of Louisville
2016 – 2017:	Senior Associate Vice President for Administration and Finance, West

Virginia University

2008-2016: Senior Associate Vice President for Finance, WVU

2005-2008: Associate Vice President for Finance, WVU

1992-2005: Director of Budget and Financial Operations, Health Sciences Center,

WVU

1986-1991: Financial Management Analyst, Health Sciences Center, WVU

## Salary Data:

Current salary: \$425,000 Proposed salary: \$425,000

Budget impact: \$0

COMMITTEE ACTION:	BOARD ACTION:
Passed X	Passed X
Did Not Pass	Did Not Pass
Other	Other
Signature on file	Signature on file
Assistant Secretary	Assistant Secretary